10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CERTIFIED COPY

STATE OF CONNECTI CUT
CONNECTI CUT SI TI NG COUNCI L

Docket No. 530

Honmel and Towers, LLC, and Cellco Partnership d/b/a
Verizon Wreless Application for a Certificate of
Envi ronnental Conpatibility and Public Need for the

Construction, Mintenance, and Operation of a
Tel ecomuni cations Facility and Associ ated Equi pnent
Located at 196 East Haddam Col chester Turnpi ke, East

Haddam Connecti cut.

Conti nued Zoom Renote Council Meeting
(Tel econference), on Tuesday, My 20, 2025, begi nning
at 2 p.m

He l d Bef or e:
JOHN MORI SSETTE, THE VI CE CHAIR
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QUAT NGUYEN,
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CHANCE CARTER
KHRI STI NE HALL
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Counci | Staff:
| FEANYl NWANKWO,
Siting Anal yst

MELANI E BACHVAN, ESQ ,

Executive Director and Staff Attorney
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Adm ni strative Support
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Appear ances:(cont'd)
For HOVELAND TOWERS:
ROBI NSON & COLE, LLP
280 Trunmbull Street, TE 19
Hart ford, Connecticut 06103

By: KENNETH C. BALDW N, ESQ

KBal dwi n@c. com

860. 275. 8345

For THE TOMN OF EAST HADDAM
ZABEL SCHELLENBERG PLLC
36 A d Tavern Road, Unit 622
Orange, Connecticut 06477

By: BRI AN L. McCANN, ESQ

203. 864. 4511

BMcCann@sl awct . com

For G ndyAnn & STEPHEN LONGOBARDI
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI

(I ntervenors):
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(Begin: 2:00 p.m)

THE VICE CHAIR  Good afternoon, | adies and gentl enen.

Can everyone hear nme okay?

Very good. Thank you.

This continued evidentiary hearing session is
called to order this Tuesday, May 20, 2025, at 2
p.m M nane is John Mrissette, Vice Chair of
t he Connecticut Siting Council. | amfilling in
for Chair Katz this afternoon.

| f you haven't done so already, | ask that
everyone please nute their conputer audi o and/ or
t el ephones now.

A copy of the prepared agenda is avail able on
the Council's website, along with the record of
this matter, the public hearing notice,

I nstructions for public access to this public
hearing, and the Council's citizen's guide to the
Siting Council's Procedures.

O her nenbers of the Council are
M. ol enbi ewski, M. Nguyen, M. Carter,

Ms. Hall, M. Synme, and M. Lynch. Menbers of the
staff are Executive Director Ml ani e Bachman,
Siting Analyst |feanyi Nwankwo, and Adm nistrative

Support Lisa Fontaine.
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This evidentiary session is a continuation of
the public hearing held on April 25, 2025. It is
hel d pursuant to the provisions of Title 16 of the
Connecticut General Statutes and of the Uniform
Adm ni strative Procedure Act upon an application
from Honel and Towers, LLC, and Cellco Partnership
d/ b/a Verizon Wreless for a certificate of
environnental conpatibility and public need for
t he construction, nmaintenance, and operation of a
t el ecommuni cations facility and associ at ed
equi pnent | ocated at 196 East Haddam Col chest er
Turnpi ke in East Haddam Connecti cut.

A verbatimtranscript wll be made of this
hearing and deposited in the East Haddam Town
Clerk's office for the convenience of the public.

The Council will take a 10 to 15-m nute break
at a convenient juncture around 3:30pm

We'll now nove to the continued appearance by
the Applicants. |In accordance with the Council's
April 25, 2025, continued evidentiary hearing
meno, we wll continue with the appearance of the
Appl i cants, Honel and Towers, LLC, and Cellco
Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wreless to verify the
new exhi bits marked as Roman nuneral two, 1tens B9

and 10 of the hearing program
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Good afternoon, Attorney Bal dw n.

ATTORNEY BALDW N: Good afternoon, M. Morissette.
Thank you.

Agai n, Kenneth Baldwin wth Robinson & Cole
on behalf of the Applicant, Honel and Towers and
Cell co Partnership, doing business as Verizon
Wrel ess.

Qur hearing panel today is the sane as it was
at the initial hearing. So, | would just rem nd
our panel that they remain under oath in this
pr oceedi ng.

RAYMOND VERGATI,

KI P Di VI TQ

ELI ZABETH GLI DDEN,
DAVI D WEI NPAHL,
MATTHEW W ALLEN,
PETER GI RAUDEAWUU,
MARTI N BROGI E

J OHN HOS AK,

BROOKS THACKER

recal l ed as w tnesses, having been previously

sworn, were exam ned and testified under oath

as foll ows:

ATTORNEY BALDWN. We have two additional exhibits to
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offer that were offered | ast week, M. NMbrissette,

as you stated, Ii

sted in the hearing program as

Applicant's Exhibits 9 and 10. They include what

has been identifi
are the Applicant
assi gnnents that

pr oceedi ng.

ed as late-file exhibits, which
's responses to the honmework

we had at the end of the prior

And then itemten is a map. Itemtenis a

map that was prepared also in response to sone

conversations and comments the Council offered

wth respect to a potential alternative |ocation

for the tower sit

e.

Wth that identification, |I'll ask a

shortened version of our witness panel, did you

prepare or assi st

in the preparation of those two

new exhi bits identified in the hearing program as

Exhi bits 9, Appli
M. DVito?
THE W TNESS (Di Vito):
ATTORNEY BALDWN:. M.
THE W TNESS (Vergati):
ATTORNEY BALDW N M.
THE W TNESS (Wi npahl)
ATTORNEY BALDW N. M.
THE W TNESS (Al |l en):

cant's Exhibits 9 and 10?

Yes.

Vergati ?
Yes.

Wei npahl ?

: Yes.

Al'l en?

Yes.
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ATTORNEY BALDW N. And do you have any corrections,
nodi fications, or clarifications to offer to
ei ther of those two new exhibits?

M. DVito?

THE W TNESS (Di Vito): No.

ATTORNEY BALDW N M. Wi npahl ?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): No.

ATTORNEY BALDWN. M. Allen?

THE W TNESS (Al len): No.

ATTORNEY BALDWN. M. Vergati?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): No.

ATTORNEY BALDW N:  And do you adopt the information
contained in those exhibits as your testinony in
this proceedi ng?

M. DVito?

THE WTNESS (Di Vito): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDW N M. Wi npahl ?

THE W TNESS (Wei npahl): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWN. M. Allen?

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWN. M. Vergati?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWN: M. Morissette, | offer themas full
exhi bi ts.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, Attorney Bal dw n.
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Does any party or intervener object to the
adm ssion of the Applicant's new exhi bits?
M. Longobardi ?
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI : No obj ecti on.
THE VICE CHAIR.  Thank you.
Att or ney McCann?
ATTORNEY McCANN:  No, sir. Thank you.
THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you. The exhibits are hereby
adm tted.
W will now continue with the
cross-exam nation of the Applicants by the
Longobardis. M. Longobardi, please continue.
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: Okay. | was tal king about the
vi sual resource assessnent. One of the questions
| have is on page 7 of the visual resource
assessnent, the VRA. In the first paragraph you
state that photo sinulations were devel oped,
superi nposed, and rendered on a three-di nensi onal
conput er nodel proposed facility into the base
phot ograph taken from each correspondi ng vi sual
receptor.
Am | correct in saying that there was no
receptor? O was there sone ot her kind?
THE WTNESS (Allen): This is Matthew Allen, Saratoga

Associ at es.
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|"msorry. Could you repeat the question?
| -- I"mnot sure | understood.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: On page 7 of your VRA you state
that you utilize a visual receptor. Ws there a
type of visual receptor in your photos?

THE WTNESS (Al len): The visual receptor referred to
Is the -- if we take correspondi ng vi sual
receptor, referring to the canera |location, or the
| ocati on the photo was taken.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: Wuldn't that refer to a ball oon
or a crane, or sonething that you could guide your
canmera to?

THE WTNESS (Allen): This is Matthew Al l en agai n.

|f you could bear with ne just a while | find
t hat exact passage, and that word.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: No problem The first paragraph,
page 7.

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yeah, we're -- we are -- Matthew
Al |l en, Saratoga Associ at es.

W are referring to the location that the
phot ogr apher was taking -- was standi ng when the
photo was taken, not the subject of the
phot ograph, or not the tower itself.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: So, it's not -- it basically

states, corresponding to a visual receptor. Wuld

10
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that not be a balloon, or an object to | ook at
where the tower |ocation was?

THE WTNESS (Allen): No, it would not.

It's the inverse of that.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: kay. On page 3, on Bashan Lake
you state that there are 70 properties that have a
partial view of the facility. |Is that correct?

THE WTNESS (Allen): Mtthew Allen, Saratoga
Associ at es.

Yes. |t says approxinmately 70 properties.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: (Okay. And you go on to state that
none of these properties wwthin can fall or do
fall within a half mle of the facility. So,
nobody within a half a mle of the facility can
see -- have the visibility of that. Correct?

THE WTNESS (Allen): That is correct. Not to say
there are not residential properties wthin that
di stance, but there are not residential properties
that fall wthin the identified viewshed area.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: All right. However, wthin your
assessnent, you acknow edge that from Bail ey Road,
which is within that half-mle radius, Nunmber 22
does have visibility of that tower?

THE W TNESS (Al len): Based on -- NMatthew Allen,

Sar at oga Associ at es.

11
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Based on the viewshed analysis, there are
very small, 1'll use the term "keyhol e views" or
w ndow vi ews al ong Bail ey Road, isolated views
bet ween gaps in trees.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: Gkay. In your VRA you state that
Sout hwi nds Road view was filtered. |Is there -- on
one of your images there, | think it's nunber 18,
do you have a correspondi ng photo of that that
si mul ates where that tower would be fromthat
road?

THE WTNESS (Allen): WMatthew Allen, Saratoga
Associ at es.

No, we do not.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: All right. M next question is
for Honmel and Towers. How wi de would the tower be
at its base?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): Yes. David Weinpahl, On Air
Engi neeri ng.

The base woul d be approximately four and a
hal f feet, between four, four and a half feet.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI : And how wi de woul d the top section
be? The typical --

THE W TNESS (Wei npahl): David Wi npahl .

Typically, two. Typically, tw feet at the
t op.

12
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STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: All right. How wi de are the
platforns usually on that structure?
THE W TNESS (Wei npahl): David Weinpahl, On Air
Engi neeri ng.
Twel ve-foot is typical for carrier platforns.
W' ve shown that, | believe, in the plans for
Veri zon.
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI : This goes probably back to
Honel and. I n question 59 fromthe pre-hearing
I nterrogatories you estimte the height of the

tree is between 70 and 80 feet. s that correct?

ATTORNEY BALDWN. M. Morissette, | think the response

speaks for itself, that that's exactly what the
response says.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: All right. So, if we average

that --
THE VICE CHAIR. Pl ease conti nue.
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: |f we average that at 75, the

155-foot tower would be 80 feet above the trees.
Correct?
THE WTNESS (Allen): Yeah. Mtthew Allen, Saratoga
Associ at es.
Mat hematically? Yes, but you have to factor
I n visual perspective, the line of sight.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: And with the 20-foot extension, it

13
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woul d be 100-foot -- above the trees?

THE W TNESS (Al len): Matthew All en.

Again, mathematically that is correct, but
that's not how line of sights work.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI : | understand that.

The FAA at this tinme is not requiring the
tower to be marked or lit. Correct?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): Ray Vergati, Honel and Towers.

That is correct. It's not required to be lit
or marked.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: WAs there any nention regarding
seapl anes | andi ng and taking off on Bashan Lake
with the FAA?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): Ray Vergati, Honmel and Towers.

We sinply run an FAA study. They conme back
and tell us if the site conplies with the
guidelines, if it needs to be |lit and marked, and
what height it can go up to w thout marking and
| i ghti ng.

| believe in this case -- and |'ll double
check -- | think it can go up to 199. | think we
al so received a letter fromthe Connecti cut
airports asking us to file an additional form
which we did, and there were no FAA i ssues that

cane back on the proposed facility.

14
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STEPHEN LONGOBARDI :  Since those seapl anes take off in
a north-to-south and south-to-north direction, is
there anything preventing the FAA requesting the
tower to be lit in the future?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati.

| can't speak for the FAA future plans, but
ri ght now they've cone back and have stated that
the tower does not need to be marked or Iit.

ATTORNEY BALDWN. M. Mrissette, for the record I'1]
just point to Applicant's Exhibit Nunber 6, which
Is that FAA final determ nation.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI :  Ckay.

THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI : This question is for the RF
engi neers. Can you provide propagati on maps or a

map with all the frequencies on one sheet to find

out what the total coverage is? |Is that feasible?

THE WTNESS (D Vito): This is Kip DDVito with Verizon
Wrel ess.

It is feasible. W just don't often do that
because you get 700 frequency that would just
drown out all the others.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI :  Ckay.
THE VICE CHAIR At this point -- in the hearing we're

not accepting any nore late files in this hearing.

15
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STEPHEN LONGOBARDI :  Ckay.

THE VICE CHAIR  We have enough information on the
record to obtain frequency information.

Thank you.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: Gkay. |If this tower is approved,
Is there a possibility that Verizon will not
develop the transfer station since it's only 1.38
mles away?

THE WTNESS (D Vito): This is Kip DVito with Verizon
Wrel ess.

No, we already have plans to nove forward
with that site.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI : If you develop the transfer
station first, is it possible that the existing
search ring wll change?

THE WTNESS (DiVito): This is Kip DiVito with Veri zon
Wrel ess.

No, it will not.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: On the next question -- | don't

know if this is a town question. The lot in front

that is the vacant |lot that's been noted, wl |l

that still be able to be devel oped as a hone?
ATTORNEY BALDWN:. Yeah. M. Morissette, |'ll -- not
to be dramatic, but I'll object. |[|'mnot sure

t hat anyone on our w tness panel can address that

16
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guesti on.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: Yeah. And like I said, | think
that was a town question. Sorry.

THE VICE CHAIR  Yes, |1'd refer that to the Town,
pl ease. Thank you.

STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: | think I'mall done wth
questi ons.

THE VICE CHAIR  Very good. Thank you, M. Longobardi .

W now have Attorney McCann cross-exani ne the
Applicant. Attorney MCann?

ATTORNEY McCANN: Thank you. Good afternoon. Brian
McCann of Zabel Schellenberg for the Town of East
Haddam Thank you for the opportunity.

My first question is regarding public
engagenent. The Town is obviously concerned that
t he appropriate nunber of individuals were nmade
aware of the application and were able to voice
their concerns, if any.

And | was just curious if the panel had a
position as to whether a balloon test would have
been a nore effective way to informthe public and
denonstrate the visual inpact of the proposed
t ower ?

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yes. Matthew Allen, Saratoga

Associ at es.

17
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From a public informati on perspective, a
bal | oon woul d have provi ded opportunity for direct
observation. Froma visual inpact perspective or
an anal ysi s perspective, it is unnecessary given
all the other technically accurate tools that are
avai |l abl e for assessnent.

| -- 1 testified last tinme in sone depth on
how we use those technical tools. |'mhappy to
answer nore questions about that, if you IliKke.

ATTORNEY McCANN: No, no. | listened to that. Thank
you.

I n the conclusory paragraph on your visual
assessnent anal ysis you had said the potenti al
project visibility is not of a size or extent that
It would constitute an unaccept abl e nagni tude, nor
does the facility affect a sufficient nunber of
public viewers or geographic area where the
facility can reasonably be deened to be visually
I nportant.

|"mjust curious in the context of that, of
those two sentences, was it taken into account
that the Bashan Lake is a state-owned public
recreation property?

THE W TNESS (Al len): Yes, it does, given that the --

Matt hew Al | en, Saratoga Associates. |'msorry.

18
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Yes, the anal ysis does consider the | ake
surface. The viewshed analysis identifies the
geographic area on the | ake where visibility woul d
occur, and the nearest area of visibility on the
| ake, | believe, is very close to a mle away.
Anything closer than a mle is screened by
shoreline vegetation.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay. And was there analysis as to
how much of the | ake approxi mately that that
enconpasses at a greater distance than a mle from
t he proposed tower?

THE WTNESS (Allen): This is Matthew All en.

Yeah, if | could take a nonent to find that?

-- | expect it does.

Yes. Yeah, approximtely 285 acres of Bashan
Lake woul d be -- of the surface of Bashan Lake
woul d be affected. |I'msorry. And also let ne
clarify. M report also says 501 acres within a

half a mle of the facility would be affected.

So, I"'msorry. The nunber | was referring to
that | said was a mle, | was m staken. The
nunber iIs -- a half a mle is about where the

shoreline vegetati on would screen the tower.
ATTORNEY McCANN: Is that the third-to-I|ast paragraph

of page 18 where it says from 253 acres of water

19
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surface?
THE WTNESS (Allen): It's Matthew All en.
|"msorry. Could you repeat that? You were
breaking up just a little bit.

ATTORNEY McCANN: Ch, I'msorry. | was asking whet her
that analysis is summarized on the third-to-Iast
par agraph on page 18 of the report where it says
253 acres of water surface.

So, nore specifically the paragraph that's
| abel ed, visibility from Bashan Lake, Mbodus
Reservoir, and Pickerel Lake.
THE WTNESS (Al len): Yes. Matthew Allen.
| think you're referring to page 8. There's
a divider bar before the 8 so it's not 18. |It's
page 8.

ATTORNEY McCANN: Oh, I'msorry.

THE WTNESS (Allen): That's okay. Yeah, and it does
say, viewshed analysis indicates the facility
could be visible from 253 acres of water surface.
That woul d be the sum of Bashan Lake, Modus
Reservoir, and Pickerel Lake.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.

Was there a visual inpact assessnent
perfornmed fromthe Laurel Cove area of the | ake?

THE W TNESS (Al len): And again, Matthew Allen.

20
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Again, I'msorry. Could you repeat that?
From what | ocation on the | ake?

ATTORNEY McCANN:  From the Laurel Cove area of Bashan
Lake.

THE WTNESS (Allen): | would ask for any assistance
fromny panel which is Laurel Cove?

| believe that's --

A VA CE: Yes.

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yes, Matthew All en.

The vi ewshed anal ysis, which is figure A-1 in
the visual inpact assessnent, the viewshed
analysis identifies the -- the water surface of
Bashan Lake that is affected, which includes the
Laurel Cove area.

A VOCE It does include.

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yeah. And there, there is also
an area on the western side of Laurel Cove that
woul d be screened by shoreline vegetation. So,
that is unaffected and that's illustrated in
figure A-1.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  This question may be for M. Brogie.
G ven the fact that the proposed tower is within
an upland review area, pursuant to the Town's
I nl and wet | ands regul ati ons, are there any wetl and

I npact mtigation neasures proposed as part of the

21
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application?

THE W TNESS (Brogie): Based on the as-built condition
of the tower, as we testified the last tinme, we
woul d not expect any -- certainly, no direct
I npacts to the wetlands. And given the size of
t he tower base and how stormmater is basically
managed in and around the tower, creating no
runof f, we woul d not expect any inpacts to the
wet | and.

W have provided sone mtigation guidance for
during construction, as we did identify sone
| ow | evel anphi bian activity in the -- in the
wet | and area nearest to the tower. And so, we
provi ded sone docunentation and protocols for
contractors to follow during construction to
mtigate any inpacts to anphibi ans.

THE REPORTER May | have the nane of the |last w tness?

THE W TNESS (Brogie): Martin Brogie, for the record.

Apol ogi es.

ATTORNEY McCANN: Thank you. And have any prudent and
feasi ble alternatives been exam ned?

THE W TNESS (Brogie): Yes, we proposed an alternative
tower |ocation which was submitted to the Council.

Martin Brogie.
ATTORNEY BALDWN: And for the Court Reporter, that

22
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M. Brogie is referring to Applicant's Exhibit 10.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  The next question is, | heard sone
testinony in the last hearing that there, there
wll be certain portions of Route 149 that w ||
still have dead zones carriers wth I nadequate
service even after the subm ssion of this instant
proposed tower.

Therefore, can we assune that additional
towers will be necessary to the west of the
proposed tower?

THE WTNESS (DiVito): This is Kip DiVito with Verizon
Wrel ess.

As al ways, we would nove forward wth our
current plan for our network and then conduct nore
testing on the network after to consider what
woul d be needed.

ATTORNEY McCANN: Ckay.

THE WTNESS (DiVito): So, | don't -- I'mnot going to
assune that.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Can you confirm though, that there
Wi ll be even -- after the installation of this
tower, there will be what I'mcalling dead zones
around/ al ong the 149 corridor?

THE WTNESS (DiVito): This is Kip DiVito wwth Verizon

Wr el ess.
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| -- | believe there's going to be areas of
service that will not have reliable in-building or
I n-vehi cl e service.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Ckay. | heard sone testinony during
the | ast hearing about RF overlaps and that there
can be problens associated with RF overl aps.

Did | hear that correctly?

THE WTNESS (D Vito): This is Kip DDVito with Verizon
Wrel ess.

There can be. It causes interference, so
that's why once sites get built and on air we do
testing to nake sure that we mtigate that
Interference. You m ght draw back a sector so
you're covering |l ess of an area, or maybe you
don't need to do that, but it -- it Is possible.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay. So ny follow up question then
Is, if we assune that there will be an additi onal
tower necessary for portions of Route 149, wll
there then be a potential for RF overlap fromthe
I nstant tower?

THE WTNESS (DiVito): So, thisis Kip DiVito wth

Veri zon Wrel ess.

So again, after we nove forward with our plan

I f, you know, granted, we would do testing. W

m ght not put up a tower. You m ght need small
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cells. It's -- we don't want to cause
Interference, so we're not going to assune that we

woul d have to build anot her tower.

ATTORNEY McCANN: Ckay. Wuld any part of that

anal ysis potentially conclude to a tower of |esser

hei ght or nmagnitude at the current |ocation?

THE WTNESS (D Vito): This is Kip DVito with Verizon

Wrel ess.

No, | nean -- so, for a few reasons, if we
were to reduce our current tower, we would reduce
t he amount of in-building and in-vehicle coverage
area greatly. Second of all, we reduce our
ability to hand off for sure with our on-air site
that is East Haddam two, which is the Anerican
Legion's building. It's on a light pole. It's, |
bel i eve, 89 feet.

So, it's -- building a snaller tower here
woul d just lessen the ability to cover Route 149,
produce a | arger gap. And then you -- you woul d
reduce the ability to hand off north and south to
our proposed sites, but approval to nove forward
Wth sites and that transfer station and Mount
Par nassus Road.

So, froman RF perspective, the current

hei ght we have right nowis exactly what we need.
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ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.

|"mcurious if any consideration regarding
the design or siting of the instant tower, if any
consi deration was given to the | ocal zoning code.
Specifically, within that zoning code for the Town
of East Haddamis that the | ocation standards,
| ocations in order of preference for facilities on
exi sting or approved towers, nunber one; within
exi sting structures, nunber two; on existing
structures, nunber three; non-sensitive areas,
nunber four; in sensitive areas with | ow visual
I npact, nunber five; or in sensitive areas with
hi gh visual inpacts wiwth mtigation, nunber six.

Was there any consideration given to simlar
factors in this application?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati, Honel and
Tower s.

We certainly try to |l ook at | ocal zoning regs
when siting these towers. |It's -- it's a delicate
bal ance. You know, | think the first few that you
just listed, froma preference standpoint fromthe
Town -- many towns, is to find a suitable
structure, be it a water tank, transm ssion pol e,
an existing tower, a billboard, a rooftop, and

that's what the carriers always | ook for.
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Qoviously, if there's an existing structure with
adequat e height that perforns for the carrier and
provides relief on the coverage gaps, then that's
where they'll go.

In this particular area of East Haddam there
are no existing structures wth adequate height,
I.e., again, water tanks, transm ssion poles,
exi sting towers, and so forth. So, you have to
find arawland site. It's a delicate -- when |
say by raw | and, you have to build a tower.

So, it's a balance of -- of working with the
engi neer, working with the terrain. You don't
want to build it in a hole where it's not going to
performwell. So, we take into consideration a
nunber of factors in trying to site the tower
that's going to be the best |ocation, both for
Verizon and the community and for public safety,
for aesthetics, for environnental, and so forth.

ATTORNEY McCANN: For several of the alternative sites
I nvestigated in this site search sumary by
Honel and the sunmmary of outreach to owners states,
the owner did not respond with interest in
pursuing a |l ease with either Honel and Towers or
Veri zon.

| mcurious on two things; nunber one, if
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that was sort of the end of the inquiry, or if --
I f other additional contact efforts were nade; and
al so, just sort of generally, whether any of those
sites were deened nore -- were deened, you know,
preferable or a better alternative, but not
expl ored because of that response that -- the |ack
of response that | just cited?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): Ray Vergati, Honel and Towers.

W send out letters, obviously, to the
honmeowners via certified and regul ar mailings.
Both Verizon did this as well as Honel and Towers.
When we don't receive a response back froma
| andl ord fromthe nultiple letters that go out to
the area, we take it as a non-interest.

W try to work with interested |andlords. W
try to work with sites that we feel, again, are
going to be the best location to site a tower with
the | east visual environnmental inpact to an area,
again looking at the terrain, working with the
engi neers for the network design, nmaking sure the
gap is filled and renedi ed by a tower.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay. And | guess ny followp to
that was, if any of those alternate property
owners did respond, or there, you know, there were

different facts regarding their response, was it
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deened that any of those towers woul d have been
conparable or even nore preferred than the instant

site?

THE W TNESS (Vergati): So again, Ray Vergati, Honel and

Tower s.

| can tell you fromny site search summary
fromthe exhibit that there were sone property
owners that did respond wwth interest. And they
were certainly vetted and | ooked at.

As an exanple, | think it's Birch Acres, LLC,
was one of the properties on Al ger Road, and | had
nmet wth the property owners, and on two or three
occasi ons wal ked the property. The property has
maj or wetlands. |t has frontage on Bashan Lake.
W have a house directly across the street, and it
was very |imted where we can site the tower.

So, even though I had an interested | andlord
willing to sign a | ease with Honel and Towers, we
did not pursue it because we felt that, A we had
a house, | believe it may have been 300 feet
directly across the street. And | had a nmjor
wet | and comi ng through the property, a stream
| eadi ng i nto Bashan Lake, and we didn't want to

cross that streamto site the tower.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.
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Lastly, | posed a question fromny client
directly to Attorney Baldwin. And | don't know if
anyone can speak to this, but we asked the
Appl i cant through counsel if they could respond to
anal ysis, a hypothetical analysis if the tower
were sited at 120 feet.

Attorney Bal dw n, can soneone speak to that
fromthe panel ?

THE WTNESS (DiVito): Yes, thisis Kip DiVito wth
Verizon Wrel ess.

We did ook at that, and | still stand by ny
previ ous statenent about reducing the tower height
and the coverage issues that that woul d cause, the
handof f issues that that would cause. And just in
general, building a snaller tower reduces the, you
know, co-locatability of it.

So that, the height we're at right nowis
what we need for the coverage needs in the area
both in-honme and in-vehicle reliability.

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay. Thank you, all. That's all |
have. | appreciate the responses.
THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, Attorney MCann.

W'l now continue with cross-exam nation of
the Applicant on the new exhibits by the Council,
starting with M. Nwankwo, followed by
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M. Col enbi ewski. M. Nwankwo, Good afternoon.

MR. NWANKWO.  Good afternoon. Thank you, M. Vice
Chair.

|'d like to refer to attachnent A, which is

part of the Applicant's response to council
I nterrogatory nunber 55. M/ question is, what is
t he di stance of the Snell-Tal bot Preserve fromthe
proposed tower?

ATTORNEY BALDWN:. [I'msorry, M. Nwankwo. You said
qguestion 557

MR. NWANKWO:  Yes, council interrogatory nunber 55.

(Pause.)

THE W TNESS (Al len): Wat was the nane of the
preserve?
ATTORNEY BALDW N Coul d --
MR NVWANKWO:. | believe the response was attachnent
one, which is just a revised viewshed map.
ATTORNEY BALDW N To the interrogatories?
MR NWANKWO.  Yes.
The vi ewshed nmap does show two preserves, the
Bl och Preserve and the Snell-Tal bot Preserve.
THE W TNESS (Al len): Wat interrogatory nunber was it?
ATTORNEY BALDWN  Fifty-five.
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THE WTNESS (Al len): Yes, Matthew Al |l en, Saratoga
Associ at es.

The di stance fromthe tower to the nearest
point on the Snell-Tal bot Preserve, | don't have
an exact dinension, but using the one-half-mile
radius ring it appears to be |less than a quarter
mle to the nearest point in the Snell-Tal bot
Preserve.

MR. NVANKWO:  Thank you.

Wuld the tower be visible fromthat, from
t hat preserve?

THE W TNESS (Al len): Matthew All en.

The viewshed map indicates that it would be
screened by intervening vegetation. | find no
areas of visibility based on viewshed analysis in
t he Snel | - Tal bot Preserve.

MR. NVANKWO:  Thank you.

Al so, in |ooking at the visual assessnent
report, several photo |ocations are |abeled as
filtered. Could you define what filtered neans?

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yes, filtered neans -- Mtthew
All en.

Filtered neans that visibility may be

possi bl e through intervening tree trunks and

branches in a seasonal l|leaf-off condition. Such
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visibility would likely be fully screened during a
sumrer | eaf-on condition.
MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you for that.

Based on that, |'mwondering why, other than
photos 5 and 15, the photo sins were not shown at
any of the other filtered photo | ocations?

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yes. Matthew Allen.

The | ocations for photo sinulations were
sel ected to provide representative -- to
Illustrate representative views, not to be fully
conpr ehensi ve of all photographs taken.

MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

Coul d the Applicant summarily conpare the
photo sinulations provided in the visual
assessnent report with the balloon float pictures
provi ded by M. Longobardi ?

THE WTNESS (Allen): Yes. Matthew Allen.

Let me just pull out -- yes, | have | ooked at
M. Longobardi's photographs. | have a nunber of
questions in order to fully understand the
phot ogr aphs taken of the ball oon.

Yeah, sone of the questions | have were --

t hat was not provided were the exact latitude and
| ongi tude where the balloon was flown, the -- the

exact ground el evati on of where the ball oon was
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fl own, the height of the balloon; and concerning
t he phot ographs t hensel ves, the exact | ocation
where the phot ographs were taken, |atitude and
| ongi tude, elevation, and inportantly, the focal
| ength of the -- the photographs.

I n conparing M. Longobardi's photographs
wi th the photographs that are in the visual
assessnent, | have no reason to believe that they
are, you know, in any way inhaccurate, but for the
guestions that | have just to confirmthe degree
of visibility.

But what | find in | ooking at conparing
M. Longobardi's photographs wth the photographs
In the visual assessnent report, | find a great
deal of consistency in -- in alnost all of the

phot ogr aphs.

MR. NVANKWO:  Thank you.

| would like to refer to the suppl enent al
Information identified as Exhibit 10. Wuld this
revised |l ocation inpact Cellco' s coverage

obj ecti ves?

THE WTNESS (DiVito): This is Kip DiVito wth Verizon

Wr el ess.

No, it wll not.

MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.
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Wul d this revised | ocation al so i npact
radi of requency em ssi ons?

THE WTNESS (DiVito): This is Kip DiVito wwth Verizon
Wrel ess.

No.

MR NWANKWO. I n addition to that, would the revised
| ocation i npact the nunber of trees that wll be
required to be cl eared?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): Yes. David Winpahl, On Air
Engi neeri ng.

The early estimate is the tree quantity woul d
maybe junp up to around 25. For renoval, that
area has not been surveyed to date yet in detail,
so that that anmount could vary after -- it should
be going in another direction in this area with
tree | ocations and sizes. W could al so shape our
conpound accordingly to perhaps save sone of the
| arger trees that mght be up in that area.

But tree quantity was originally 17. W're
now projecting maybe 25 for the alternate.

MR. NVANKWO:  Thank you.

How woul d this revised |ocation affect the
size of the total area of disturbance?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): Yes. David Winpahl, On Air

Engi neeri ng.
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| think we have -- we didn't run the ful

calculations on it, but it would be reduced

slightly. W' ve been able to shift the tower into

the center of the conpound here. W previously

had a limt of disturbance approximately 20 feet

fromthe central wetl and,

whi ch coul d now be

approximately 60 feet in this alternate |ocation.

Addi tionally, previously we had a 40-f oot

setback fromthat sanme wetland to the conpound

corner, and as previously testified and as noted

inthis exhibit, that could be 80 feet now with

t he conpound corner to that wetl and.

MR. NWANKWO.  Thank you.

So, does that nean the total LCOD woul d

I ncrease or decrease?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): David Wi npahl, On Air

Engi neeri ng.
It would be simlar,

MR. NVANKWO:  Thank you.

a simlar size.

Al so referencing the revised |ocation, would

operational noise levels at the property line

still be conpliant with state standards?

THE W TNESS (Wei npahl): Yes.
Engi neeri ng.

Yes, they woul d.

David Wei npahl, On Air
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MR. NVANKWO:  Thank you.

And | astly, would the yield point on the
tower affect the feasibility of a future tower
ext ensi on?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): Yes. David Winpahl, On Air

Engi neeri ng.

No, | don't believe that would be an issue
with the yield point design in -- in either
| ocati on.

MR. NVWANKWO: So, just to be clear, if a yield point is
installed, it doesn't inhibit future tower
ext ensi ons?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): Yes. David Winpahl, On Air
Engi neeri ng.

The yield point could be designed in a nunber
of ways considering a future extension or not
considering it, depending on what the Council
prefers. The manufacturer is able to design these
mul ti ple ways. For either of the locations it
woul dn't have an i npact.

MR. NVWANKWO:  Thank you. Thank you, M. Vice Chair.
That will be all ny questions.
THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, M. Nwankwo.
W' Il now continue with cross-exam nation of

the Applicant by M. Nguyen, followed by
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M. Carter. M. Nguyen, good afternoon.
MR. NGQUYEN: Good afternoon, Vice Chair Morissette.
| do not have any questions fromthe
| ate-filed exhibits. Thank you.
THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, M. Nguyen.
W'l ]l now continue with cross-exam nati on by
M. Carter, followed by Ms. Hall. M. Carter,
good afternoon.
MR. CARTER  Good afternoon, Vice Chair Morissette.
| actually do not have any further questions
based on the late files. So, thank you.
THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, M. Carter.
We'll now continue with cross-exam nati on by
Ms. Hall, followed by M. Lynch. M. Hall, good
af t ernoon.
M5. HALL: Good afternoon.
| too have no further questions on the
| ate-filed exhibits.
THE VICE CHAIR. Thank you, M. Hall.
W'l |l now continue with cross-exam nati on by
M. Lynch, followed by nyself. M. Lynch, good
af t er noon.
MR. LYNCH: Good afternoon, M. Mbrissette.
| just have one question that is a clarifying

guestion, and that is on the tower's yield point.
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Have you ever heard of a nonopole, not a lattice
tower, collapsing on itself or wwth a yield point?

THE W TNESS (Wi npahl): Yeah. David Winpahl, On Air
Engi neeri ng.

| have not heard of a tower collapsing upon
itself with a yield point. |'mnot aware of or
have no know edge of -- of that, despite that
bei ng i nherently in sone of the designs that the
t ower manufacturers have put forth.

MR. LYNCH. Thank you for that answer.

You have verified sonething that | thought
for along tine, you know, about yield points.
So, thank you very nuch.

Those are ny questions, M. Morissette.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, M. Lynch.

First of all, I'd like to start off by saying
for the record, the questioning | had about
coverage during our |last hearing, | did have the
opportunity to |l ook at section 16, and | now
understand the additional coverage fromthe
transfer station. So thank you, everyone, for
your patience in that regard.

| do have a follow up question on the
Interrogatory or the late-filed responses. The

first one has to do with question one. Now, the
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dropped-call level that you're trying to get to is
.6 percent. And | noticed in the interrogatory
they were in the 2 -- 2 and a half, 2 percent.

So, by adding this facility, do you think
you're going to get down to .67 O is it even

sonet hi ng | ower?

THE WTNESS (D Vito): This is Kip DVito with Verizon

Wrel ess.

| can't really say that we should get down to
that on all these sectors. These, these nunbers
that were -- that we submtted, they were given to
us by our system perfornmance engineers. That's
really -- their role on this network is to nonitor
t hese key performance issues. And, you know, .6
I's our goal for a market-w de thing, or, you know,
KPI .

So, our goal is, of course, with this site
and the other sites that we -- we've | ooked at and
have plans for is to get these sectors that we've
| isted here, which do feed into this area, down to
.6 percent or below call-drop percentage. But
again, it -- a netwrk is always evol ving and

growi ng, and we -- we design and then we test.

THE VICE CHAIR  Okay. Well, just for ny education

here -- so for exanple, Haddam Connecticut is
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2.92. Is that a large junp fromgoing from2.92
down to .67
THE WTNESS (DiVito): This is Kip DiVito wwth Verizon
Wrel ess.
| believe it is. Again, thisis its -- it's
not my role at Verizon to | ook at these nunbers on
a daily basis |ike our system perfornmance does,
but | can say that Haddamthere, that's -- that's
a pretty faraway site across the river that's
extending it, overextending itself into the area.
So, that would be this -- this proposed site
woul d be extrenely beneficial to pull that, give
that site a chance to be pulled back in, better
serving the people in Haddam as wel|.
THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.
| was trying to get a feel for how
significant the change that you're trying to
achieve is, and I'minterpreting that that's a
pretty sizable drop to get to .6 for the Haddam
Connecticut facility -- but thank you for that
I nformati on.
The new proposed | ocation, do you support the
new | ocation? O do you prefer the old | ocation?
THE W TNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati, Honel and

Tower s.
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From Honel and' s perspective, they're kind of
apples to apples in a sense. W're talking about
| ogistically a 40-foot nove. | think the -- the
proposed | ocation versus the alternate | ocation,
each has sone slight advantages or di sadvant ages.
What | would tell you, the proposed |location is
set further back fromthe East Haddam Col chester,
Tur npi ke, however the limt of disturbance is
closer to the | owfunctioning wetland there,
roughly 20 feet away.

The alternate location that's further north
on the property, | think we've shifted the tower
roughly 65 feet. W have sone | edge to contend
with there, but we're further fromthe wetl ands.

So again, each site has its advantage or

di sadvantage. | wll say froma ground el evati on,

they're both 451, 451 and a half. So, there's no
di fference fromthat perspective.

| have a willing landlord that is -- is open
to the alternate location, so that's not an issue
for us. So, | would basically say that from our
preference, we don't have a preference. W'Il| go
ei ther way should the Council deemto approve

the -- the docket.

THE VICE CHAIR  Okay. Very good. Thank you.
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My | ast question has to do -- we received a
coment froma resident in East Haddam and he was
tal ki ng about the deed restriction to the East
Haddam Land Trust and M. Brownell's property.

|s there a deed restriction associated with

this property?

THE WTNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati, Honel and

Towers.

There's no deed restriction on the subject
parcel, which is 196 East Haddam Col chester
Tur npi ke where the tower is proposed.

The -- the abutting parcel, which | believe
you' re tal king about, which is the Brownell
Preserve, | believe that that property has been
deeded to the land trust for future, you know,
non- devel opnent. It does not affect the subject
parcel. It does not affect our access. It does

not affect us what soever.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you for that clarification.

Ckay. That concludes ny cross-exam nation
for this afternoon. W will now nove on to the
appear ance by Stephen and G ndyAnn Longobardi .
WIIl the party present its wtness panel for the
pur pose of taking the oath, and we'll have

Att orney Bachnman adm ni ster the oath.
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St ephan and G ndy- Ann, pl ease?
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI : St ephen.
THE VICE CHAIR Is G ndyAnn also going to participate?
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI: No, not at this tine.
THE VICE CHAIR  Okay. Attorney Bachman, please
adm ni ster the oath.
ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you, M. Mbrissette.
M . Longobardi, could you pl ease raise your
ri ght hand?
STEPHEN LONGOBARDI,
called as a wtness, being sworn by
THE EXECUTI VE DI RECTOR, was exam ned and

testified under oath as foll ows:

ATTORNEY BACHVAN:. Thank you.
THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Bachman.
We'll now verify M. Longobardi's exhibits.
St ephen Longobardi, you have offered the exhibits
| i sted under the hearing program as Roman nuner al
3B, 1 through 3, for identification purposes.
| s there any objection to nmaking these
exhibits for identification purposes only at this
time?
THE W TNESS (Longobardi): No.
THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you. Stephen Longobardi, did
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you prepare or assist in the preparation of
Exhibit 3B, 1 through 3?

W TNESS (Longobardi): Yes. |'massum ng you are
referring to the photos. That was the nunber for
it?

VICE CHAIR No, there's three exhibits; the
request for party status, the pre-filed testinony,
and vi sual assessnent, one, two, and three.

W TNESS (Longobardi): Yes. Yes, it was ne.

VICE CHAIR Geat. Thank you.

Do you have any additions, clarifications,
del etions, or nodification to these docunents?

W TNESS (Longobardi): | do not.

VICE CHAIR  Are these exhibits true and accurate
to the best of your know edge?

W TNESS (Longobardi): Yes, they are.

VICE CHAIR Do you offer these exhibits as your
testi nony here today?

W TNESS (Longobardi): Yes.

VICE CHAIR And do you offer these as full
exhi bits?

W TNESS (Longobardi): Yes.

VI CE CHAIR  Thank you.

Does any party object to the adm ssion of

St ephan Longobardi's exhibits? Attorney Bal dw n?

45



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

ATTORNEY BALDWN. M. Mrissette, | don't have an
objection. | just want to point out we didn't
recei ve the photographs until yesterday, the day
before the continuation of the hearing.

But with that noted in the record, | have no
obj ecti on.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, Attorney Bal dw n.

Attorney McCann?
ATTORNEY McCANN: No objection, M. MNbrissette.
THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you.
The exhibits are hereby admtted.
W will now begin with cross-exam nati on of
St ephen Longobardi by the Council, starting wth
M. Nwankwo, followed by M. Nguyen. M. Nwankwo?

MR. NWANKWO.  Thank you, M. Vice Chair.

My first question, what alternative sites did
you suggest during the nunicipal consultation?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): I'msorry. Can you say that
agai n?

MR. NVWANKWO:  \What alternative sites did you suggest
during the nunicipal consultation?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): | did not.

MR. NWANKWO.  Okay. Thank you.

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Besides the transfer

station.
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MR. NVWANKWO:  Thank you for that.

What alternatives to a new tower do you
believe are feasible for Verizon's coverage
obj ecti ves?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): The only thing that | was
basing ny alternatives on was di stances between
towers, and that woul d be between the transfer
station and the new Mount Parnassus site. | did
not think it was necessary since there's an
overl ap between these two sites.

MR. NVWANKWO:  Thank you.

| have a few questions on the balloon float.
When was the balloon float done, and for how | ong
was the balloon up?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): | believe it was April 14th,
from9:30 to 11: 30.

MR. NVANKWO:  To what hei ght was the balloon rai sed?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Raised to 155 feet.

MR. NVANKWO:  Thank you.

Was it flown fromthe center of the proposed
tower | ocation?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): | didn't want to trespass,
so we were on the property line 25 feet west of
t he conmpound on the Brownel |l property.

MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.
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Coul d you provide any information on what
type of canera was used to acquire the pictures?
For exanple, the negapi xels, the lens, the canera
nodel , the |lens setting?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Yes, sir. The canera was a
Ni kon P900, at 55 mllineter.

MR. NVWANKWO:  Thank you.

Wul d you have any preference for any stealth
t ower design options or canouflaging, and al so
| andscapi ng for the conpound or the conpound
encl osur e?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): No, not at this tine.

MR. NWANKWO.  Thank you. That wll be all ny
guestions, M. Vice Chair.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, M. Nwankwo. W' Il now
conti nue the cross-exam nation by M. Nguyen,
followed by M. Carter. M. Nguyen?

MR. NGUYEN: Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.

Yeah, M. Longobardi, | appreciate your
participation in this proceeding. Just a quick
guestion for you, and that is with respect to the
proposed |l ocation and the -- just introduced to
the alternative | ocation.

| " mjust curious regarding your thoughts.

What woul d you prefer in terns of the | ocation?
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THE W TNESS (Longobardi): It -- it's not going to
affect ne. W would drive -- that's our driveway.
We drive by it every day. Mowving it closer to
East Haddam Col chester Turnpi ke gets it farther

away fromthe wetlands, but | don't know how nany

trees they'll have to take down to nove it closer
to there.

MR. NGUYEN: COkay. And that's all. Thank you. And
that's all | have, M. Morissette.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, M. Nguyen.
We' Il now continue with cross-exam nati on by
M. Carter, followed by Ms. Hall. M. Carter?
MR. CARTER  Thank you, M. Vice Chair, and thank you,
M. Longobardi, for joining us and participating.
|'"' mnot going to take up too nuch tinme. |
just want to |l ook at your pre-filed testinony, and
| was just wondering if you could el aborate a bit
on question six, which was participating in the
Town' s nuni ci pal review.
THE W TNESS (Longobardi): I'msorry. Could you ask --
coul d you repeat that question, please?
MR. CARTER. Sure. | just wanted to get sone nore
detail about question six fromyour pre-filed
testinony, which was about your role in the Town's

muni ci pal revi ew.
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THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Okay. Yeah, | -- | did go
to that neeting. M. Vergati and M. Baldw n were
there making their presentation. There was quite
a few people in the room | don't know if enough
peopl e were notified.

A lot of the people around the | ake are

seasonal, so that's -- that's a di sadvantage for
us. | know they followed up with answers to the
guestions as best they could. | don't think they

el imnated any that were asked. Qobviously, it's
very visible fromthe | ake, especially by -- by
the Li DAR notation. So, people were -- were
vi sual |y upset.
MR. CARTER.  Thank you.
And Vice Chair, that is all that | have. So,
t hank you.
THE VICE CHAIR. Thank you, M. Carter.
We'll now continue with cross-exam nati on by
Ms. Hall, followed by M. Lynch. M. Hall?
M5. HALL: Thank you.
| was intrigued by the reference earlier
today to seapl anes. Do you know how nany
seapl anes there m ght be on Bashan Lake?
THE W TNESS (Longobardi): | do not.

M5. HALL: But are you aware that there are sone?
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THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Absolutely. They fly right
over our house. W're on the north end of the
| ake.

M5. HALL: GCkay. And would these be people who keep
their planes on the | ake and, therefore, are
pretty famliar with it?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Not to ny know edge, no.

M5. HALL: Okay. All right. That's all the questions
| have. Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, M. Hall.

We' Il now continue with cross-exam nati on by
M. Lynch, followed by nyself. M. Lynch?

MR. LYNCH. No questions, M. Morissette.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, M. Lynch.

M. Longobardi, | wanted to go to your
bal | oon pictures.

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Ckay.

THE VICE CHAIR: Is there anything in particul ar that
you want to point out here for the Council?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): It's obvious that |I don't
see it fromny house unless |'mon the | ake, but
t he people right on East Haddam Col chester, their
statenent fromM. Allen said that they will not
see it. | find that hard to believe.

That is -- they're |looking out their front
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w ndow. 197 East Haddam Col chester is absolutely
right across the street fromthat site. And I
know there's trees to hide it, but that is a w de
structure. |It's exactly vertical, and there's
going to be racks on the top.

When you're com ng down Falls Bashan Road,
you're going to pick that up imedi ately. It's
going to be in the center of the road -- | ooking
right at it. So, their houses are right on that
end.

Sure, I'll see it when | drive by it in the
norni ng and at night, but these people are --
that's going to affect the value of their hones.
It's right outside their house.

THE VICE CHAIR | take it you're referring to photo
nunber two and three?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Correct.

THE VICE CHAIR. Ckay. Anything el se?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): No.

There was -- there was two photos that, on
their LiDAR, it shows that the east side and the
south end of the | ake are nost affected, but they
did not take any pictures fromthat end of the
| ake, and that was the Laurel Cove photo that |

provided fromthat beach area, Laurel Cove Road.
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Now, it's -- it's a distance away, but
it's -- it wll be very visible fromthat end of
t he | ake.

VICE CHAIR  And which photo is that?

W TNESS (Longobardi): Toward the end where it
says, Laurel Cove Road, southwest end of Bashan
Lake.

VICE CHAIR  Gotcha. Ckay.

W TNESS (Longobardi): And | believe that's a
little nore than a mle away.

VICE CHAIR  Very good. GCkay. Anything else while
we have the opportunity?

W TNESS (Longobardi): No, | think I've -- 1've

done enough.

VICE CHAIR  Very good.
W TNESS (Longobardi): 1've done what | could do.
VICE CHAIR  Very good. Well, we appreciate you

com ng out and testifying this afternoon.
So, we'll now continue the cross-exam nati on

by Attorney Baldwi n. Attorney Bal dw n?

ATTORNEY BALDW N Thank you, M. Morissette.

A coupl e of questions all regarding the
phot ogr aphs, just for clarification.
M. Longobardi, do you know what the ground

el evation was at the | ocation where the ball oon
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was fl own?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Well, based on your plan,
based on being on the property line 25 feet from
the conmpound, | think that was a little nore than
5 feet lower than the tower site.

ATTORNEY BALDW N: Ckay. And according to
Weat her Under gr ound. com the w nds that day were
bet ween seven and el even m | es an hour.

| s that consistent with your recollection?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Well, when we started, it
was six. |t was supposed to go to eight. And
yes, it went up to el even.

At about 11:30, the ball oon popped as it was
novi ng.

ATTORNEY BALDW N. We know fromthat experience. Thank
you.

Just for sone clarification, you referred to
the first, second, and third photographs. They
are taken from East Haddam Col chester Road, and
you said conpared to photo one, visible. The next
one is fromFalls Bashan Road conpared to photo
three, visible -- I"'msorry, that's the third
phot ogr aph.

And then the second phot ograph, Falls Bashan
Road, nunber five -- that's a property address, by
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the way. Nunber five is the property address on
Bashan Lake Road?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Correct.

ATTORNEY BALDW N. Okay. And then you said photo
nunber two, visible. But these are all photos
where the balloon is shown in and anongst the
trees. The ball oon does not eclipse the top of
the trees fromthose |ocations. Correct?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Correct. Wl -- correct.

ATTORNEY BALDW N:. Ckay. On several of these
phot ographs there's a green arrow directed toward
the balloon. Sone of the photographs, you can see
the balloon. Sone of the photographs, the photo
was taken fromsuch a distance that it's very hard
to see the balloon in the photograph.

But just to be clear, the end of that arrow
doesn't identify the |location of the ball oon.
It's just a directional arrow toward where the
ball oon is. Correct?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Correct. So, if you go to

the photos from Bail ey Road as conpared to the one

photo you guys took fromBailey Road, it is -- it
Is very visible. It's a great portion above the
trees --

ATTORNEY BALDWN:  Wich --
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THE W TNESS (Longobardi): -- in those two | ocations.

ATTORNEY BALDW N.  Which photo are you referring to?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): | apologize. | didn't
nunber them but | have one here that says 90
Bai | ey Road, visible.

ATTORNEY BALDWN Right. So, again
(unintelligible) --

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): And the one that's -- the
one after this is 20 Bailey Road. Conpare that to
the 21 that you had from-- from | think it was
south, the south side of 14.

ATTORNEY BALDW N. Wl |, okay. Then again, just to be
clear, on the one photograph entitled or | abel ed,
90 Bailey Road, visible, the arrow points to the
ball oon and that's the balloon a certain distance
kind of lower left of that arrow?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Correct. | didn't put the
arrow directly on it.

ATTORNEY BALDW N: Ckay. And then with respect to the
20 Bail ey Road conpared to photo 21, if you | ook
at photo 21, that's not the exact |ocation where
photo 21 was taken. Correct?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): It's to the right of that.

ATTORNEY BALDW N:  Ckay.

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Your 21 is to our -- your 21
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Is to the right of that near 14.

ATTORNEY BALDW N:  Ckay.

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Wll, you only had -- you
only had one photo fromBailey Road. That's why |
referenced that.

ATTORNEY BALDW N:.  Unh-huh. That's fine.

So, getting back to a point that M. Allen
mentioned in response to sone of his questions,
several of these photos where the balloon is
visible or visible through the trees, those
phot ographs all appear to be consistent with the
findings in the Saratoga report. And | can refer
you to photos two and three that we tal ked about
where the balloon is in and anpbngst the trees.

And then I'Il junp to the end of the
phot ographi c array where you tal k about | ocations
at the sout heast and sout hwest portions of the
| ake where, again, while it's hard to see in the
phot ogr aph because you're, you know, alnbst a mle
and a half away, that the tower would eclipse the
top of the trees a little bit fromthose
| ocati ons.

And again, that that is consistent with the
findings of the Saratoga report if you review

their viewshed map. Correct?
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THE W TNESS (Longobardi): | agree with you except for
t he ones on East Haddam Col chester. | think -- |
think the pictures on East Haddam Col chester were
taken on an angle that there's no way you coul d
see from-- your photo two, if you went to the
right side of the road and you did your imagery of
the tower, you would have seen what -- what |I'm
show ng as a bal | oon.

ATTORNEY BALDW N:. Ckay. But again, a balloon in and
anongst the trees -- so, visible, visible during
the winter nonths and consistent with Saratoga's
phot o sinul ati on nunber one, which was taken right
out fromin front of the property?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Again, you'll have to agree
that a balloon is a little less visible than a
tower wll be.

ATTORNEY BALDWN. Right. But you did see this photo
sinmul ati on that was provided that shows a
sinmul ated tower fromthat |location right out in
front of the property?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): Yes, | did see that.

ATTORNEY BALDWN. Ckay. M. Morissette, that's all
have.

THE VICE CHAIR  Thank you, Attorney Bal dw n.

We' Il now continue cross-exan nati on by
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Attorney McCann. Attorney McCann, please?

ATTORNEY McCANN: | don't have any questions,

M. Morissette. Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

Ckay. W are now going to nove on to the
appearance by the Town of East Haddam WII| the
Town of East Haddam present its w tness panel for
pur poses of taking the oath? W w Il have
Attorney Bachman who will adm ni ster the oath.

Attorney McCann, please begin.

ATTORNEY McCANN: M. Morissette, we don't have any
W t nesses fromthe Town.

THE VICE CHAIR Ckay. W have no witnesses, no
exhi bits?

ATTORNEY McCANN:  Correct.

THE VICE CHAIR: Attorney Bachman, could you help ne
out here? So, we don't cross-exam ne the Town's
attorney, | would presune?

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: That's correct, M. Mrissette. W
woul dn't cross-exam ne the Town's attorney, but we
woul d ask the other parties if they have any
objection to allowing the request for party status
and any statenents nade therein to be submtted
into the record as a full exhibit w thout

Cr oss-exam nati on.
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Thank you.
THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.
Attorney Bal dw n, do you have any objection?
ATTORNEY BALDW N.  We have no objection,
M. Morissette.
THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

And M. Longobardi, do you have any

obj ecti on?

THE W TNESS (Longobardi): | have no objections.

THE VICE CHAIR: (Ckay. Very good. That concl udes our
hearing for this afternoon.

Therefore, before closing the evidentiary
record in this matter, the Connecticut Siting
Counci | announces that briefs and proposed
findings of fact may be filed with the Council by
any party or intervener no later than June 19,
2025.

The subm ssions of briefs or proposed

findings of fact are not required by this Council.

Rat her, we leave it to the choice of the parties
and i nterveners.

Anyone who has not becone a party or
I ntervener but who desires to make his or her
views known to the Council may file witten

statenents to the Council within 30 days of the
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dat e hereof.

The Council wll issue draft findings of
fact, and thereafter parties and interveners may
Identify errors or inconsistencies between the
Council's draft findings of fact and the record,
however no new evi dence, no new i nformation, and
no argunents and no reply briefs w thout our
perm ssion will be considered by the Council.

Copies of the transcript of this hearing wll
be filed at the East Haddam Town Clerk's office.

| hereby declare this hearing adjourned and
t hank you, everyone, for your participation.

Good afternoon.

(End: 3:15 p.m)
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CERTI FI CATE

| hereby certify that the foregoing 61 pages
are a conplete and accurate conputer-aided
transcription of my original verbatimnotes taken
of the renote tel econference neeting of The
Connecticut Siting Council continued hearing in
Re: DOCKET NO. 530, HOVELAND TOWERS, LLC, AND
CELLCO PARTNERSHI P D/ B/ A VERI ZON W RELESS
APPLI CATI ON FOR A CERTI FI CATE OF ENVI RONVVENTAL
COVPATI BI LI TY AND PUBLI C NEED FOR THE
CONSTRUCTI ON, MAI NTENANCE, AND OPERATI ON OF A
TELECOMMUNI CATI ONS FACI LI TY AND ASSCCI ATED
EQUI PMENT LOCATED AT 196 EAST HADDAM COLCHESTER

TURNPI KE, EAST HADDAM CONNECTI CUT, which was hel d

before JOHAN MORI SSETTE, THE VICE CHAIR, on May 20,
2025.

r o4
A L S—

Robert G D xon, CVR-M 857

Notary Public
My Comm ssion Expires: 6/30/2025
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 01                       (Begin:  2:00 p.m.)

 02  

 03  THE VICE CHAIR:  Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

 04       Can everyone hear me okay?

 05            Very good.  Thank you.

 06            This continued evidentiary hearing session is

 07       called to order this Tuesday, May 20, 2025, at 2

 08       p.m.  My name is John Morissette, Vice Chair of

 09       the Connecticut Siting Council.  I am filling in

 10       for Chair Katz this afternoon.

 11            If you haven't done so already, I ask that

 12       everyone please mute their computer audio and/or

 13       telephones now.

 14            A copy of the prepared agenda is available on

 15       the Council's website, along with the record of

 16       this matter, the public hearing notice,

 17       instructions for public access to this public

 18       hearing, and the Council's citizen's guide to the

 19       Siting Council's Procedures.

 20            Other members of the Council are

 21       Mr. Golembiewski, Mr. Nguyen, Mr. Carter,

 22       Ms. Hall, Mr. Syme, and Mr. Lynch.  Members of the

 23       staff are Executive Director Melanie Bachman,

 24       Siting Analyst Ifeanyi Nwankwo, and Administrative

 25       Support Lisa Fontaine.

�0005

 01            This evidentiary session is a continuation of

 02       the public hearing held on April 25, 2025.  It is

 03       held pursuant to the provisions of Title 16 of the

 04       Connecticut General Statutes and of the Uniform

 05       Administrative Procedure Act upon an application

 06       from Homeland Towers, LLC, and Cellco Partnership

 07       d/b/a Verizon Wireless for a certificate of

 08       environmental compatibility and public need for

 09       the construction, maintenance, and operation of a

 10       telecommunications facility and associated

 11       equipment located at 196 East Haddam-Colchester

 12       Turnpike in East Haddam, Connecticut.

 13            A verbatim transcript will be made of this

 14       hearing and deposited in the East Haddam Town

 15       Clerk's office for the convenience of the public.

 16            The Council will take a 10 to 15-minute break

 17       at a convenient juncture around 3:30pm.

 18            We'll now move to the continued appearance by

 19       the Applicants.  In accordance with the Council's

 20       April 25, 2025, continued evidentiary hearing

 21       memo, we will continue with the appearance of the

 22       Applicants, Homeland Towers, LLC, and Cellco

 23       Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless to verify the

 24       new exhibits marked as Roman numeral two, items B9

 25       and 10 of the hearing program.

�0006

 01            Good afternoon, Attorney Baldwin.

 02  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Good afternoon, Mr. Morissette.

 03       Thank you.

 04            Again, Kenneth Baldwin with Robinson & Cole

 05       on behalf of the Applicant, Homeland Towers and

 06       Cellco Partnership, doing business as Verizon

 07       Wireless.

 08            Our hearing panel today is the same as it was

 09       at the initial hearing.  So, I would just remind

 10       our panel that they remain under oath in this

 11       proceeding.

 12  R A Y M O N D   V E R G A T I,

 13  K I P   D i V I T O,

 14  E L I Z A B E T H   G L I D D E N,

 15  D A V I D   W E I N P A H L,

 16  M A T T H E W    W.   A L L E N,

 17  P E T E R   G I R A U D E A U,

 18  M A R T I N   B R O G I E,

 19  J O H N   H O S A K,

 20  B R O O K S   T H A C K E R,

 21            recalled as witnesses, having been previously

 22            sworn, were examined and testified under oath

 23            as follows:

 24  

 25  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  We have two additional exhibits to
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 01       offer that were offered last week, Mr. Morissette,

 02       as you stated, listed in the hearing program as

 03       Applicant's Exhibits 9 and 10.  They include what

 04       has been identified as late-file exhibits, which

 05       are the Applicant's responses to the homework

 06       assignments that we had at the end of the prior

 07       proceeding.

 08            And then item ten is a map.  Item ten is a

 09       map that was prepared also in response to some

 10       conversations and comments the Council offered

 11       with respect to a potential alternative location

 12       for the tower site.

 13            With that identification, I'll ask a

 14       shortened version of our witness panel, did you

 15       prepare or assist in the preparation of those two

 16       new exhibits identified in the hearing program as

 17       Exhibits 9, Applicant's Exhibits 9 and 10?

 18            Mr. DiVito?

 19  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  Yes.

 20  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Vergati?

 21  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Yes.

 22  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Weinpahl?

 23  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.

 24  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Allen?

 25  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.
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 01  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  And do you have any corrections,

 02       modifications, or clarifications to offer to

 03       either of those two new exhibits?

 04            Mr. DiVito?

 05  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  No.

 06  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Weinpahl?

 07  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  No.

 08  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Allen?

 09  THE WITNESS (Allen):  No.

 10  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Vergati?

 11  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  No.

 12  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  And do you adopt the information

 13       contained in those exhibits as your testimony in

 14       this proceeding?

 15            Mr. DiVito?

 16  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  Yes.

 17  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Weinpahl?

 18  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.

 19  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Allen?

 20  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.

 21  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Vergati?

 22  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Yes.

 23  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, I offer them as full

 24       exhibits.

 25  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.
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 01            Does any party or intervener object to the

 02       admission of the Applicant's new exhibits?

 03            Mr. Longobardi?

 04  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  No objection.

 05  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 06            Attorney McCann?

 07  ATTORNEY McCANN:  No, sir.  Thank you.

 08  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.  The exhibits are hereby

 09       admitted.

 10            We will now continue with the

 11       cross-examination of the Applicants by the

 12       Longobardis.  Mr. Longobardi, please continue.

 13  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  I was talking about the

 14       visual resource assessment.  One of the questions

 15       I have is on page 7 of the visual resource

 16       assessment, the VRA.  In the first paragraph you

 17       state that photo simulations were developed,

 18       superimposed, and rendered on a three-dimensional

 19       computer model proposed facility into the base

 20       photograph taken from each corresponding visual

 21       receptor.

 22            Am I correct in saying that there was no

 23       receptor?  Or was there some other kind?

 24  THE WITNESS (Allen):  This is Matthew Allen, Saratoga

 25       Associates.
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 01            I'm sorry.  Could you repeat the question?

 02       I -- I'm not sure I understood.

 03  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  On page 7 of your VRA you state

 04       that you utilize a visual receptor.  Was there a

 05       type of visual receptor in your photos?

 06  THE WITNESS (Allen):  The visual receptor referred to

 07       is the -- if we take corresponding visual

 08       receptor, referring to the camera location, or the

 09       location the photo was taken.

 10  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Wouldn't that refer to a balloon

 11       or a crane, or something that you could guide your

 12       camera to?

 13  THE WITNESS (Allen):  This is Matthew Allen again.

 14            If you could bear with me just a while I find

 15       that exact passage, and that word.

 16  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  No problem.  The first paragraph,

 17       page 7.

 18  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yeah, we're -- we are -- Matthew

 19       Allen, Saratoga Associates.

 20            We are referring to the location that the

 21       photographer was taking -- was standing when the

 22       photo was taken, not the subject of the

 23       photograph, or not the tower itself.

 24  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  So, it's not -- it basically

 25       states, corresponding to a visual receptor.  Would
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 01       that not be a balloon, or an object to look at

 02       where the tower location was?

 03  THE WITNESS (Allen):  No, it would not.

 04            It's the inverse of that.

 05  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  On page 3, on Bashan Lake

 06       you state that there are 70 properties that have a

 07       partial view of the facility.  Is that correct?

 08  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen, Saratoga

 09       Associates.

 10            Yes.  It says approximately 70 properties.

 11  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  And you go on to state that

 12       none of these properties within can fall or do

 13       fall within a half mile of the facility.  So,

 14       nobody within a half a mile of the facility can

 15       see -- have the visibility of that.  Correct?

 16  THE WITNESS (Allen):  That is correct.  Not to say

 17       there are not residential properties within that

 18       distance, but there are not residential properties

 19       that fall within the identified viewshed area.

 20  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  However, within your

 21       assessment, you acknowledge that from Bailey Road,

 22       which is within that half-mile radius, Number 22

 23       does have visibility of that tower?

 24  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Based on -- Matthew Allen,

 25       Saratoga Associates.

�0012

 01            Based on the viewshed analysis, there are

 02       very small, I'll use the term "keyhole views" or

 03       window views along Bailey Road, isolated views

 04       between gaps in trees.

 05  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  In your VRA you state that

 06       Southwinds Road view was filtered.  Is there -- on

 07       one of your images there, I think it's number 18,

 08       do you have a corresponding photo of that that

 09       simulates where that tower would be from that

 10       road?

 11  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen, Saratoga

 12       Associates.

 13            No, we do not.

 14  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  My next question is

 15       for Homeland Towers.  How wide would the tower be

 16       at its base?

 17  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air

 18       Engineering.

 19            The base would be approximately four and a

 20       half feet, between four, four and a half feet.

 21  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  And how wide would the top section

 22       be?  The typical --

 23  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  David Weinpahl.

 24            Typically, two.  Typically, two feet at the

 25       top.
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 01  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  How wide are the

 02       platforms usually on that structure?

 03  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  David Weinpahl, On Air

 04       Engineering.

 05            Twelve-foot is typical for carrier platforms.

 06       We've shown that, I believe, in the plans for

 07       Verizon.

 08  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  This goes probably back to

 09       Homeland.  In question 59 from the pre-hearing

 10       interrogatories you estimate the height of the

 11       tree is between 70 and 80 feet.  Is that correct?

 12  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, I think the response

 13       speaks for itself, that that's exactly what the

 14       response says.

 15  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  So, if we average

 16       that --

 17  THE VICE CHAIR:  Please continue.

 18  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  If we average that at 75, the

 19       155-foot tower would be 80 feet above the trees.

 20            Correct?

 21  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yeah.  Matthew Allen, Saratoga

 22       Associates.

 23            Mathematically?  Yes, but you have to factor

 24       in visual perspective, the line of sight.

 25  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  And with the 20-foot extension, it
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 01       would be 100-foot -- above the trees?

 02  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen.

 03            Again, mathematically that is correct, but

 04       that's not how line of sights work.

 05  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  I understand that.

 06            The FAA at this time is not requiring the

 07       tower to be marked or lit.  Correct?

 08  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.

 09            That is correct.  It's not required to be lit

 10       or marked.

 11  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Was there any mention regarding

 12       seaplanes landing and taking off on Bashan Lake

 13       with the FAA?

 14  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.

 15            We simply run an FAA study.  They come back

 16       and tell us if the site complies with the

 17       guidelines, if it needs to be lit and marked, and

 18       what height it can go up to without marking and

 19       lighting.

 20            I believe in this case -- and I'll double

 21       check -- I think it can go up to 199.  I think we

 22       also received a letter from the Connecticut

 23       airports asking us to file an additional form,

 24       which we did, and there were no FAA issues that

 25       came back on the proposed facility.
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 01  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Since those seaplanes take off in

 02       a north-to-south and south-to-north direction, is

 03       there anything preventing the FAA requesting the

 04       tower to be lit in the future?

 05  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati.

 06            I can't speak for the FAA future plans, but

 07       right now they've come back and have stated that

 08       the tower does not need to be marked or lit.

 09  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, for the record I'll

 10       just point to Applicant's Exhibit Number 6, which

 11       is that FAA final determination.

 12  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.

 13  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 14  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  This question is for the RF

 15       engineers.  Can you provide propagation maps or a

 16       map with all the frequencies on one sheet to find

 17       out what the total coverage is?  Is that feasible?

 18  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 19       Wireless.

 20            It is feasible.  We just don't often do that

 21       because you get 700 frequency that would just

 22       drown out all the others.

 23  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.

 24  THE VICE CHAIR:  At this point -- in the hearing we're

 25       not accepting any more late files in this hearing.

�0016

 01  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.

 02  THE VICE CHAIR:  We have enough information on the

 03       record to obtain frequency information.

 04            Thank you.

 05  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  If this tower is approved,

 06       is there a possibility that Verizon will not

 07       develop the transfer station since it's only 1.38

 08       miles away?

 09  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 10       Wireless.

 11            No, we already have plans to move forward

 12       with that site.

 13  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  If you develop the transfer

 14       station first, is it possible that the existing

 15       search ring will change?

 16  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 17       Wireless.

 18            No, it will not.

 19  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  On the next question -- I don't

 20       know if this is a town question.  The lot in front

 21       that is the vacant lot that's been noted, will

 22       that still be able to be developed as a home?

 23  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Yeah.  Mr. Morissette, I'll -- not

 24       to be dramatic, but I'll object.  I'm not sure

 25       that anyone on our witness panel can address that
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 01       question.

 02  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Yeah.  And like I said, I think

 03       that was a town question.  Sorry.

 04  THE VICE CHAIR:  Yes, I'd refer that to the Town,

 05       please.  Thank you.

 06  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  I think I'm all done with

 07       questions.

 08  THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.  Thank you, Mr. Longobardi.

 09            We now have Attorney McCann cross-examine the

 10       Applicant.  Attorney McCann?

 11  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  Brian

 12       McCann of Zabel Schellenberg for the Town of East

 13       Haddam.  Thank you for the opportunity.

 14            My first question is regarding public

 15       engagement.  The Town is obviously concerned that

 16       the appropriate number of individuals were made

 17       aware of the application and were able to voice

 18       their concerns, if any.

 19            And I was just curious if the panel had a

 20       position as to whether a balloon test would have

 21       been a more effective way to inform the public and

 22       demonstrate the visual impact of the proposed

 23       tower?

 24  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen, Saratoga

 25       Associates.
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 01            From a public information perspective, a

 02       balloon would have provided opportunity for direct

 03       observation.  From a visual impact perspective or

 04       an analysis perspective, it is unnecessary given

 05       all the other technically accurate tools that are

 06       available for assessment.

 07            I -- I testified last time in some depth on

 08       how we use those technical tools.  I'm happy to

 09       answer more questions about that, if you like.

 10  ATTORNEY McCANN:  No, no.  I listened to that.  Thank

 11       you.

 12            In the conclusory paragraph on your visual

 13       assessment analysis you had said the potential

 14       project visibility is not of a size or extent that

 15       it would constitute an unacceptable magnitude, nor

 16       does the facility affect a sufficient number of

 17       public viewers or geographic area where the

 18       facility can reasonably be deemed to be visually

 19       important.

 20            I'm just curious in the context of that, of

 21       those two sentences, was it taken into account

 22       that the Bashan Lake is a state-owned public

 23       recreation property?

 24  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, it does, given that the --

 25       Matthew Allen, Saratoga Associates.  I'm sorry.
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 01            Yes, the analysis does consider the lake

 02       surface.  The viewshed analysis identifies the

 03       geographic area on the lake where visibility would

 04       occur, and the nearest area of visibility on the

 05       lake, I believe, is very close to a mile away.

 06       Anything closer than a mile is screened by

 07       shoreline vegetation.

 08  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  And was there analysis as to

 09       how much of the lake approximately that that

 10       encompasses at a greater distance than a mile from

 11       the proposed tower?

 12  THE WITNESS (Allen):  This is Matthew Allen.

 13            Yeah, if I could take a moment to find that?

 14       I -- I expect it does.

 15            Yes.  Yeah, approximately 285 acres of Bashan

 16       Lake would be -- of the surface of Bashan Lake

 17       would be affected.  I'm sorry.  And also let me

 18       clarify.  My report also says 501 acres within a

 19       half a mile of the facility would be affected.

 20            So, I'm sorry.  The number I was referring to

 21       that I said was a mile, I was mistaken.  The

 22       number is -- a half a mile is about where the

 23       shoreline vegetation would screen the tower.

 24  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Is that the third-to-last paragraph

 25       of page 18 where it says from 253 acres of water
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 01       surface?

 02  THE WITNESS (Allen):  It's Matthew Allen.

 03            I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that?  You were

 04       breaking up just a little bit.

 05  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I was asking whether

 06       that analysis is summarized on the third-to-last

 07       paragraph on page 18 of the report where it says

 08       253 acres of water surface.

 09            So, more specifically the paragraph that's

 10       labeled, visibility from Bashan Lake, Moodus

 11       Reservoir, and Pickerel Lake.

 12  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen.

 13            I think you're referring to page 8.  There's

 14       a divider bar before the 8, so it's not 18.  It's

 15       page 8.

 16  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Oh, I'm sorry.

 17  THE WITNESS (Allen):  That's okay.  Yeah, and it does

 18       say, viewshed analysis indicates the facility

 19       could be visible from 253 acres of water surface.

 20       That would be the sum of Bashan Lake, Moodus

 21       Reservoir, and Pickerel Lake.

 22  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.

 23            Was there a visual impact assessment

 24       performed from the Laurel Cove area of the lake?

 25  THE WITNESS (Allen):  And again, Matthew Allen.
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 01            Again, I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that?

 02       From what location on the lake?

 03  ATTORNEY McCANN:  From the Laurel Cove area of Bashan

 04       Lake.

 05  THE WITNESS (Allen):  I would ask for any assistance

 06       from my panel which is Laurel Cove?

 07            I believe that's --

 08  A VOICE:  Yes.

 09  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, Matthew Allen.

 10            The viewshed analysis, which is figure A-1 in

 11       the visual impact assessment, the viewshed

 12       analysis identifies the -- the water surface of

 13       Bashan Lake that is affected, which includes the

 14       Laurel Cove area.

 15  A VOICE:  It does include.

 16  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yeah.  And there, there is also

 17       an area on the western side of Laurel Cove that

 18       would be screened by shoreline vegetation.  So,

 19       that is unaffected and that's illustrated in

 20       figure A-1.

 21  ATTORNEY McCANN:  This question may be for Mr. Brogie.

 22       Given the fact that the proposed tower is within

 23       an upland review area, pursuant to the Town's

 24       inland wetlands regulations, are there any wetland

 25       impact mitigation measures proposed as part of the
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 01       application?

 02  THE WITNESS (Brogie):  Based on the as-built condition

 03       of the tower, as we testified the last time, we

 04       would not expect any -- certainly, no direct

 05       impacts to the wetlands.  And given the size of

 06       the tower base and how stormwater is basically

 07       managed in and around the tower, creating no

 08       runoff, we would not expect any impacts to the

 09       wetland.

 10            We have provided some mitigation guidance for

 11       during construction, as we did identify some

 12       low-level amphibian activity in the -- in the

 13       wetland area nearest to the tower.  And so, we

 14       provided some documentation and protocols for

 15       contractors to follow during construction to

 16       mitigate any impacts to amphibians.

 17  THE REPORTER:  May I have the name of the last witness?

 18  THE WITNESS (Brogie):  Martin Brogie, for the record.

 19            Apologies.

 20  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.  And have any prudent and

 21       feasible alternatives been examined?

 22  THE WITNESS (Brogie):  Yes, we proposed an alternative

 23       tower location which was submitted to the Council.

 24            Martin Brogie.

 25  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  And for the Court Reporter, that
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 01       Mr. Brogie is referring to Applicant's Exhibit 10.

 02  ATTORNEY McCANN:  The next question is, I heard some

 03       testimony in the last hearing that there, there

 04       will be certain portions of Route 149 that will

 05       still have dead zones carriers with inadequate

 06       service even after the submission of this instant

 07       proposed tower.

 08            Therefore, can we assume that additional

 09       towers will be necessary to the west of the

 10       proposed tower?

 11  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 12       Wireless.

 13            As always, we would move forward with our

 14       current plan for our network and then conduct more

 15       testing on the network after to consider what

 16       would be needed.

 17  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.

 18  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  So, I don't -- I'm not going to

 19       assume that.

 20  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Can you confirm, though, that there

 21       will be even -- after the installation of this

 22       tower, there will be what I'm calling dead zones

 23       around/along the 149 corridor?

 24  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 25       Wireless.
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 01            I -- I believe there's going to be areas of

 02       service that will not have reliable in-building or

 03       in-vehicle service.

 04  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  I heard some testimony during

 05       the last hearing about RF overlaps and that there

 06       can be problems associated with RF overlaps.

 07            Did I hear that correctly?

 08  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 09       Wireless.

 10            There can be.  It causes interference, so

 11       that's why once sites get built and on air we do

 12       testing to make sure that we mitigate that

 13       interference.  You might draw back a sector so

 14       you're covering less of an area, or maybe you

 15       don't need to do that, but it -- it is possible.

 16  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  So my follow-up question then

 17       is, if we assume that there will be an additional

 18       tower necessary for portions of Route 149, will

 19       there then be a potential for RF overlap from the

 20       instant tower?

 21  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  So, this is Kip DiVito with

 22       Verizon Wireless.

 23            So again, after we move forward with our plan

 24       if, you know, granted, we would do testing.  We

 25       might not put up a tower.  You might need small
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 01       cells.  It's -- we don't want to cause

 02       interference, so we're not going to assume that we

 03       would have to build another tower.

 04  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  Would any part of that

 05       analysis potentially conclude to a tower of lesser

 06       height or magnitude at the current location?

 07  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 08       Wireless.

 09            No, I mean -- so, for a few reasons, if we

 10       were to reduce our current tower, we would reduce

 11       the amount of in-building and in-vehicle coverage

 12       area greatly.  Second of all, we reduce our

 13       ability to hand off for sure with our on-air site

 14       that is East Haddam two, which is the American

 15       Legion's building.  It's on a light pole.  It's, I

 16       believe, 89 feet.

 17            So, it's -- building a smaller tower here

 18       would just lessen the ability to cover Route 149,

 19       produce a larger gap.  And then you -- you would

 20       reduce the ability to hand off north and south to

 21       our proposed sites, but approval to move forward

 22       with sites and that transfer station and Mount

 23       Parnassus Road.

 24            So, from an RF perspective, the current

 25       height we have right now is exactly what we need.
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 01  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.

 02            I'm curious if any consideration regarding

 03       the design or siting of the instant tower, if any

 04       consideration was given to the local zoning code.

 05       Specifically, within that zoning code for the Town

 06       of East Haddam is that the location standards,

 07       locations in order of preference for facilities on

 08       existing or approved towers, number one; within

 09       existing structures, number two; on existing

 10       structures, number three; non-sensitive areas,

 11       number four; in sensitive areas with low visual

 12       impact, number five; or in sensitive areas with

 13       high visual impacts with mitigation, number six.

 14            Was there any consideration given to similar

 15       factors in this application?

 16  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati, Homeland

 17       Towers.

 18            We certainly try to look at local zoning regs

 19       when siting these towers.  It's -- it's a delicate

 20       balance.  You know, I think the first few that you

 21       just listed, from a preference standpoint from the

 22       Town -- many towns, is to find a suitable

 23       structure, be it a water tank, transmission pole,

 24       an existing tower, a billboard, a rooftop, and

 25       that's what the carriers always look for.

�0027

 01       Obviously, if there's an existing structure with

 02       adequate height that performs for the carrier and

 03       provides relief on the coverage gaps, then that's

 04       where they'll go.

 05            In this particular area of East Haddam there

 06       are no existing structures with adequate height,

 07       i.e., again, water tanks, transmission poles,

 08       existing towers, and so forth.  So, you have to

 09       find a raw land site.  It's a delicate -- when I

 10       say by raw land, you have to build a tower.

 11            So, it's a balance of -- of working with the

 12       engineer, working with the terrain.  You don't

 13       want to build it in a hole where it's not going to

 14       perform well.  So, we take into consideration a

 15       number of factors in trying to site the tower

 16       that's going to be the best location, both for

 17       Verizon and the community and for public safety,

 18       for aesthetics, for environmental, and so forth.

 19  ATTORNEY McCANN:  For several of the alternative sites

 20       investigated in this site search summary by

 21       Homeland the summary of outreach to owners states,

 22       the owner did not respond with interest in

 23       pursuing a lease with either Homeland Towers or

 24       Verizon.

 25            I'm curious on two things; number one, if
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 01       that was sort of the end of the inquiry, or if --

 02       if other additional contact efforts were made; and

 03       also, just sort of generally, whether any of those

 04       sites were deemed more -- were deemed, you know,

 05       preferable or a better alternative, but not

 06       explored because of that response that -- the lack

 07       of response that I just cited?

 08  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.

 09            We send out letters, obviously, to the

 10       homeowners via certified and regular mailings.

 11       Both Verizon did this as well as Homeland Towers.

 12       When we don't receive a response back from a

 13       landlord from the multiple letters that go out to

 14       the area, we take it as a non-interest.

 15            We try to work with interested landlords.  We

 16       try to work with sites that we feel, again, are

 17       going to be the best location to site a tower with

 18       the least visual environmental impact to an area,

 19       again looking at the terrain, working with the

 20       engineers for the network design, making sure the

 21       gap is filled and remedied by a tower.

 22  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  And I guess my followup to

 23       that was, if any of those alternate property

 24       owners did respond, or there, you know, there were

 25       different facts regarding their response, was it
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 01       deemed that any of those towers would have been

 02       comparable or even more preferred than the instant

 03       site?

 04  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  So again, Ray Vergati, Homeland

 05       Towers.

 06            I can tell you from my site search summary

 07       from the exhibit that there were some property

 08       owners that did respond with interest.  And they

 09       were certainly vetted and looked at.

 10            As an example, I think it's Birch Acres, LLC,

 11       was one of the properties on Alger Road, and I had

 12       met with the property owners, and on two or three

 13       occasions walked the property.  The property has

 14       major wetlands.  It has frontage on Bashan Lake.

 15       We have a house directly across the street, and it

 16       was very limited where we can site the tower.

 17            So, even though I had an interested landlord

 18       willing to sign a lease with Homeland Towers, we

 19       did not pursue it because we felt that, A, we had

 20       a house, I believe it may have been 300 feet

 21       directly across the street.  And I had a major

 22       wetland coming through the property, a stream

 23       leading into Bashan Lake, and we didn't want to

 24       cross that stream to site the tower.

 25  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.
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 01            Lastly, I posed a question from my client

 02       directly to Attorney Baldwin.  And I don't know if

 03       anyone can speak to this, but we asked the

 04       Applicant through counsel if they could respond to

 05       analysis, a hypothetical analysis if the tower

 06       were sited at 120 feet.

 07            Attorney Baldwin, can someone speak to that

 08       from the panel?

 09  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  Yes, this is Kip DiVito with

 10       Verizon Wireless.

 11            We did look at that, and I still stand by my

 12       previous statement about reducing the tower height

 13       and the coverage issues that that would cause, the

 14       handoff issues that that would cause.  And just in

 15       general, building a smaller tower reduces the, you

 16       know, co-locatability of it.

 17            So that, the height we're at right now is

 18       what we need for the coverage needs in the area

 19       both in-home and in-vehicle reliability.

 20  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  Thank you, all.  That's all I

 21       have.  I appreciate the responses.

 22  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney McCann.

 23            We'll now continue with cross-examination of

 24       the Applicant on the new exhibits by the Council,

 25       starting with Mr. Nwankwo, followed by
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 01       Mr. Golembiewski.  Mr. Nwankwo, Good afternoon.

 02  MR. NWANKWO:  Good afternoon.  Thank you, Mr. Vice

 03       Chair.

 04            I'd like to refer to attachment A, which is

 05       part of the Applicant's response to council

 06       interrogatory number 55.  My question is, what is

 07       the distance of the Snell-Talbot Preserve from the

 08       proposed tower?

 09  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Nwankwo.  You said

 10       question 55?

 11  MR. NWANKWO:  Yes, council interrogatory number 55.

 12  

 13                            (Pause.)

 14  

 15  THE WITNESS (Allen):  What was the name of the

 16       preserve?

 17  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Could --

 18  MR. NWANKWO:  I believe the response was attachment

 19       one, which is just a revised viewshed map.

 20  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  To the interrogatories?

 21  MR. NWANKWO:  Yes.

 22            The viewshed map does show two preserves, the

 23       Bloch Preserve and the Snell-Talbot Preserve.

 24  THE WITNESS (Allen):  What interrogatory number was it?

 25  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Fifty-five.
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 01  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, Matthew Allen, Saratoga

 02       Associates.

 03            The distance from the tower to the nearest

 04       point on the Snell-Talbot Preserve, I don't have

 05       an exact dimension, but using the one-half-mile

 06       radius ring it appears to be less than a quarter

 07       mile to the nearest point in the Snell-Talbot

 08       Preserve.

 09  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 10            Would the tower be visible from that, from

 11       that preserve?

 12  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen.

 13            The viewshed map indicates that it would be

 14       screened by intervening vegetation.  I find no

 15       areas of visibility based on viewshed analysis in

 16       the Snell-Talbot Preserve.

 17  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 18            Also, in looking at the visual assessment

 19       report, several photo locations are labeled as

 20       filtered.  Could you define what filtered means?

 21  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, filtered means -- Matthew

 22       Allen.

 23            Filtered means that visibility may be

 24       possible through intervening tree trunks and

 25       branches in a seasonal leaf-off condition.  Such
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 01       visibility would likely be fully screened during a

 02       summer leaf-on condition.

 03  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you for that.

 04            Based on that, I'm wondering why, other than

 05       photos 5 and 15, the photo sims were not shown at

 06       any of the other filtered photo locations?

 07  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen.

 08            The locations for photo simulations were

 09       selected to provide representative -- to

 10       illustrate representative views, not to be fully

 11       comprehensive of all photographs taken.

 12  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 13            Could the Applicant summarily compare the

 14       photo simulations provided in the visual

 15       assessment report with the balloon float pictures

 16       provided by Mr. Longobardi?

 17  THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen.

 18            Let me just pull out -- yes, I have looked at

 19       Mr. Longobardi's photographs.  I have a number of

 20       questions in order to fully understand the

 21       photographs taken of the balloon.

 22            Yeah, some of the questions I have were --

 23       that was not provided were the exact latitude and

 24       longitude where the balloon was flown, the -- the

 25       exact ground elevation of where the balloon was
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 01       flown, the height of the balloon; and concerning

 02       the photographs themselves, the exact location

 03       where the photographs were taken, latitude and

 04       longitude, elevation, and importantly, the focal

 05       length of the -- the photographs.

 06            In comparing Mr. Longobardi's photographs

 07       with the photographs that are in the visual

 08       assessment, I have no reason to believe that they

 09       are, you know, in any way inaccurate, but for the

 10       questions that I have just to confirm the degree

 11       of visibility.

 12            But what I find in looking at comparing

 13       Mr. Longobardi's photographs with the photographs

 14       in the visual assessment report, I find a great

 15       deal of consistency in -- in almost all of the

 16       photographs.

 17  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 18            I would like to refer to the supplemental

 19       information identified as Exhibit 10.  Would this

 20       revised location impact Cellco's coverage

 21       objectives?

 22  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 23       Wireless.

 24            No, it will not.

 25  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.
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 01            Would this revised location also impact

 02       radiofrequency emissions?

 03  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 04       Wireless.

 05            No.

 06  MR. NWANKWO:  In addition to that, would the revised

 07       location impact the number of trees that will be

 08       required to be cleared?

 09  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air

 10       Engineering.

 11            The early estimate is the tree quantity would

 12       maybe jump up to around 25.  For removal, that

 13       area has not been surveyed to date yet in detail,

 14       so that that amount could vary after -- it should

 15       be going in another direction in this area with

 16       tree locations and sizes.  We could also shape our

 17       compound accordingly to perhaps save some of the

 18       larger trees that might be up in that area.

 19            But tree quantity was originally 17.  We're

 20       now projecting maybe 25 for the alternate.

 21  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 22            How would this revised location affect the

 23       size of the total area of disturbance?

 24  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air

 25       Engineering.
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 01            I think we have -- we didn't run the full

 02       calculations on it, but it would be reduced

 03       slightly.  We've been able to shift the tower into

 04       the center of the compound here.  We previously

 05       had a limit of disturbance approximately 20 feet

 06       from the central wetland, which could now be

 07       approximately 60 feet in this alternate location.

 08            Additionally, previously we had a 40-foot

 09       setback from that same wetland to the compound

 10       corner, and as previously testified and as noted

 11       in this exhibit, that could be 80 feet now with

 12       the compound corner to that wetland.

 13  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 14            So, does that mean the total LOD would

 15       increase or decrease?

 16  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  David Weinpahl, On Air

 17       Engineering.

 18            It would be similar, a similar size.

 19  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 20            Also referencing the revised location, would

 21       operational noise levels at the property line

 22       still be compliant with state standards?

 23  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air

 24       Engineering.

 25            Yes, they would.
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 01  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 02            And lastly, would the yield point on the

 03       tower affect the feasibility of a future tower

 04       extension?

 05  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air

 06       Engineering.

 07            No, I don't believe that would be an issue

 08       with the yield point design in -- in either

 09       location.

 10  MR. NWANKWO:  So, just to be clear, if a yield point is

 11       installed, it doesn't inhibit future tower

 12       extensions?

 13  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air

 14       Engineering.

 15            The yield point could be designed in a number

 16       of ways considering a future extension or not

 17       considering it, depending on what the Council

 18       prefers.  The manufacturer is able to design these

 19       multiple ways.  For either of the locations it

 20       wouldn't have an impact.

 21  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.

 22       That will be all my questions.

 23  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nwankwo.

 24            We'll now continue with cross-examination of

 25       the Applicant by Mr. Nguyen, followed by
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 01       Mr. Carter.  Mr. Nguyen, good afternoon.

 02  MR. NGUYEN:  Good afternoon, Vice Chair Morissette.

 03            I do not have any questions from the

 04       late-filed exhibits.  Thank you.

 05  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.

 06            We'll now continue with cross-examination by

 07       Mr. Carter, followed by Ms. Hall.  Mr. Carter,

 08       good afternoon.

 09  MR. CARTER:  Good afternoon, Vice Chair Morissette.

 10            I actually do not have any further questions

 11       based on the late files.  So, thank you.

 12  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.

 13            We'll now continue with cross-examination by

 14       Ms. Hall, followed by Mr. Lynch.  Ms. Hall, good

 15       afternoon.

 16  MS. HALL:  Good afternoon.

 17            I too have no further questions on the

 18       late-filed exhibits.

 19  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms. Hall.

 20            We'll now continue with cross-examination by

 21       Mr. Lynch, followed by myself.  Mr. Lynch, good

 22       afternoon.

 23  MR. LYNCH:  Good afternoon, Mr. Morissette.

 24            I just have one question that is a clarifying

 25       question, and that is on the tower's yield point.
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 01       Have you ever heard of a monopole, not a lattice

 02       tower, collapsing on itself or with a yield point?

 03  THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yeah.  David Weinpahl, On Air

 04       Engineering.

 05            I have not heard of a tower collapsing upon

 06       itself with a yield point.  I'm not aware of or

 07       have no knowledge of -- of that, despite that

 08       being inherently in some of the designs that the

 09       tower manufacturers have put forth.

 10  MR. LYNCH:  Thank you for that answer.

 11            You have verified something that I thought

 12       for a long time, you know, about yield points.

 13       So, thank you very much.

 14            Those are my questions, Mr. Morissette.

 15  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Lynch.

 16            First of all, I'd like to start off by saying

 17       for the record, the questioning I had about

 18       coverage during our last hearing, I did have the

 19       opportunity to look at section 16, and I now

 20       understand the additional coverage from the

 21       transfer station.  So thank you, everyone, for

 22       your patience in that regard.

 23            I do have a follow-up question on the

 24       interrogatory or the late-filed responses.  The

 25       first one has to do with question one.  Now, the
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 01       dropped-call level that you're trying to get to is

 02       .6 percent.  And I noticed in the interrogatory

 03       they were in the 2 -- 2 and a half, 2 percent.

 04            So, by adding this facility, do you think

 05       you're going to get down to .6?  Or is it even

 06       something lower?

 07  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 08       Wireless.

 09            I can't really say that we should get down to

 10       that on all these sectors.  These, these numbers

 11       that were -- that we submitted, they were given to

 12       us by our system performance engineers.  That's

 13       really -- their role on this network is to monitor

 14       these key performance issues.  And, you know, .6

 15       is our goal for a market-wide thing, or, you know,

 16       KPI.

 17            So, our goal is, of course, with this site

 18       and the other sites that we -- we've looked at and

 19       have plans for is to get these sectors that we've

 20       listed here, which do feed into this area, down to

 21       .6 percent or below call-drop percentage.  But

 22       again, it -- a network is always evolving and

 23       growing, and we -- we design and then we test.

 24  THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Well, just for my education

 25       here -- so for example, Haddam, Connecticut is
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 01       2.92.  Is that a large jump from going from 2.92

 02       down to .6?

 03  THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon

 04       Wireless.

 05            I believe it is.  Again, this is its -- it's

 06       not my role at Verizon to look at these numbers on

 07       a daily basis like our system performance does,

 08       but I can say that Haddam there, that's -- that's

 09       a pretty faraway site across the river that's

 10       extending it, overextending itself into the area.

 11            So, that would be this -- this proposed site

 12       would be extremely beneficial to pull that, give

 13       that site a chance to be pulled back in, better

 14       serving the people in Haddam as well.

 15  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 16            I was trying to get a feel for how

 17       significant the change that you're trying to

 18       achieve is, and I'm interpreting that that's a

 19       pretty sizable drop to get to .6 for the Haddam,

 20       Connecticut facility -- but thank you for that

 21       information.

 22            The new proposed location, do you support the

 23       new location?  Or do you prefer the old location?

 24  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati, Homeland

 25       Towers.
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 01            From Homeland's perspective, they're kind of

 02       apples to apples in a sense.  We're talking about

 03       logistically a 40-foot move.  I think the -- the

 04       proposed location versus the alternate location,

 05       each has some slight advantages or disadvantages.

 06       What I would tell you, the proposed location is

 07       set further back from the East Haddam-Colchester,

 08       Turnpike, however the limit of disturbance is

 09       closer to the low-functioning wetland there,

 10       roughly 20 feet away.

 11            The alternate location that's further north

 12       on the property, I think we've shifted the tower

 13       roughly 65 feet.  We have some ledge to contend

 14       with there, but we're further from the wetlands.

 15       So again, each site has its advantage or

 16       disadvantage.  I will say from a ground elevation,

 17       they're both 451, 451 and a half.  So, there's no

 18       difference from that perspective.

 19            I have a willing landlord that is -- is open

 20       to the alternate location, so that's not an issue

 21       for us.  So, I would basically say that from our

 22       preference, we don't have a preference.  We'll go

 23       either way should the Council deem to approve

 24       the -- the docket.

 25  THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Very good.  Thank you.
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 01            My last question has to do -- we received a

 02       comment from a resident in East Haddam and he was

 03       talking about the deed restriction to the East

 04       Haddam Land Trust and Mr. Brownell's property.

 05            Is there a deed restriction associated with

 06       this property?

 07  THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati, Homeland

 08       Towers.

 09            There's no deed restriction on the subject

 10       parcel, which is 196 East Haddam-Colchester

 11       Turnpike where the tower is proposed.

 12            The -- the abutting parcel, which I believe

 13       you're talking about, which is the Brownell

 14       Preserve, I believe that that property has been

 15       deeded to the land trust for future, you know,

 16       non-development.  It does not affect the subject

 17       parcel.  It does not affect our access.  It does

 18       not affect us whatsoever.

 19  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you for that clarification.

 20            Okay.  That concludes my cross-examination

 21       for this afternoon.  We will now move on to the

 22       appearance by Stephen and CindyAnn Longobardi.

 23       Will the party present its witness panel for the

 24       purpose of taking the oath, and we'll have

 25       Attorney Bachman administer the oath.
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 01            Stephan and Cindy-Ann, please?

 02  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Stephen.

 03  THE VICE CHAIR:  Is CindyAnn also going to participate?

 04  STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  No, not at this time.

 05  THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Attorney Bachman, please

 06       administer the oath.

 07  ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 08            Mr. Longobardi, could you please raise your

 09       right hand?

 10  S T E P H E N    L O N G O B A R D I,

 11            called as a witness, being sworn by

 12            THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, was examined and

 13            testified under oath as follows:

 14  

 15  ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.

 16  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Bachman.

 17            We'll now verify Mr. Longobardi's exhibits.

 18       Stephen Longobardi, you have offered the exhibits

 19       listed under the hearing program as Roman numeral

 20       3B, 1 through 3, for identification purposes.

 21            Is there any objection to making these

 22       exhibits for identification purposes only at this

 23       time?

 24  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No.

 25  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.  Stephen Longobardi, did
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 01       you prepare or assist in the preparation of

 02       Exhibit 3B, 1 through 3?

 03  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.  I'm assuming you are

 04       referring to the photos.  That was the number for

 05       it?

 06  THE VICE CHAIR:  No, there's three exhibits; the

 07       request for party status, the pre-filed testimony,

 08       and visual assessment, one, two, and three.

 09  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.  Yes, it was me.

 10  THE VICE CHAIR:  Great.  Thank you.

 11            Do you have any additions, clarifications,

 12       deletions, or modification to these documents?

 13  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I do not.

 14  THE VICE CHAIR:  Are these exhibits true and accurate

 15       to the best of your knowledge?

 16  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes, they are.

 17  THE VICE CHAIR:  Do you offer these exhibits as your

 18       testimony here today?

 19  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.

 20  THE VICE CHAIR:  And do you offer these as full

 21       exhibits?

 22  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.

 23  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 24            Does any party object to the admission of

 25       Stephan Longobardi's exhibits?  Attorney Baldwin?
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 01  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, I don't have an

 02       objection.  I just want to point out we didn't

 03       receive the photographs until yesterday, the day

 04       before the continuation of the hearing.

 05            But with that noted in the record, I have no

 06       objection.

 07  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

 08            Attorney McCann?

 09  ATTORNEY McCANN:  No objection, Mr. Morissette.

 10  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 11            The exhibits are hereby admitted.

 12            We will now begin with cross-examination of

 13       Stephen Longobardi by the Council, starting with

 14       Mr. Nwankwo, followed by Mr. Nguyen.  Mr. Nwankwo?

 15  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.

 16            My first question, what alternative sites did

 17       you suggest during the municipal consultation?

 18  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I'm sorry.  Can you say that

 19       again?

 20  MR. NWANKWO:  What alternative sites did you suggest

 21       during the municipal consultation?

 22  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I did not.

 23  MR. NWANKWO:  Okay.  Thank you.

 24  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Besides the transfer

 25       station.
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 01  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you for that.

 02            What alternatives to a new tower do you

 03       believe are feasible for Verizon's coverage

 04       objectives?

 05  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  The only thing that I was

 06       basing my alternatives on was distances between

 07       towers, and that would be between the transfer

 08       station and the new Mount Parnassus site.  I did

 09       not think it was necessary since there's an

 10       overlap between these two sites.

 11  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 12            I have a few questions on the balloon float.

 13       When was the balloon float done, and for how long

 14       was the balloon up?

 15  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I believe it was April 14th,

 16       from 9:30 to 11:30.

 17  MR. NWANKWO:  To what height was the balloon raised?

 18  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Raised to 155 feet.

 19  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 20            Was it flown from the center of the proposed

 21       tower location?

 22  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I didn't want to trespass,

 23       so we were on the property line 25 feet west of

 24       the compound on the Brownell property.

 25  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.
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 01            Could you provide any information on what

 02       type of camera was used to acquire the pictures?

 03       For example, the megapixels, the lens, the camera

 04       model, the lens setting?

 05  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes, sir.  The camera was a

 06       Nikon P900, at 55 millimeter.

 07  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.

 08            Would you have any preference for any stealth

 09       tower design options or camouflaging, and also

 10       landscaping for the compound or the compound

 11       enclosure?

 12  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No, not at this time.

 13  MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.  That will be all my

 14       questions, Mr. Vice Chair.

 15  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nwankwo.  We'll now

 16       continue the cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen,

 17       followed by Mr. Carter.  Mr. Nguyen?

 18  MR. NGUYEN:  Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.

 19            Yeah, Mr. Longobardi, I appreciate your

 20       participation in this proceeding.  Just a quick

 21       question for you, and that is with respect to the

 22       proposed location and the -- just introduced to

 23       the alternative location.

 24            I'm just curious regarding your thoughts.

 25       What would you prefer in terms of the location?
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 01  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  It -- it's not going to

 02       affect me.  We would drive -- that's our driveway.

 03       We drive by it every day.  Moving it closer to

 04       East Haddam-Colchester Turnpike gets it farther

 05       away from the wetlands, but I don't know how many

 06       trees they'll have to take down to move it closer

 07       to there.

 08  MR. NGUYEN:  Okay.  And that's all.  Thank you.  And

 09       that's all I have, Mr. Morissette.

 10  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.

 11            We'll now continue with cross-examination by

 12       Mr. Carter, followed by Ms. Hall.  Mr. Carter?

 13  MR. CARTER:  Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair, and thank you,

 14       Mr. Longobardi, for joining us and participating.

 15            I'm not going to take up too much time.  I

 16       just want to look at your pre-filed testimony, and

 17       I was just wondering if you could elaborate a bit

 18       on question six, which was participating in the

 19       Town's municipal review.

 20  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I'm sorry.  Could you ask --

 21       could you repeat that question, please?

 22  MR. CARTER:  Sure.  I just wanted to get some more

 23       detail about question six from your pre-filed

 24       testimony, which was about your role in the Town's

 25       municipal review.
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 01  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Okay.  Yeah, I -- I did go

 02       to that meeting.  Mr. Vergati and Mr. Baldwin were

 03       there making their presentation.  There was quite

 04       a few people in the room.  I don't know if enough

 05       people were notified.

 06            A lot of the people around the lake are

 07       seasonal, so that's -- that's a disadvantage for

 08       us.  I know they followed up with answers to the

 09       questions as best they could.  I don't think they

 10       eliminated any that were asked.  Obviously, it's

 11       very visible from the lake, especially by -- by

 12       the LiDAR notation.  So, people were -- were

 13       visually upset.

 14  MR. CARTER:  Thank you.

 15            And Vice Chair, that is all that I have.  So,

 16       thank you.

 17  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.

 18            We'll now continue with cross-examination by

 19       Ms. Hall, followed by Mr. Lynch.  Ms. Hall?

 20  MS. HALL:  Thank you.

 21            I was intrigued by the reference earlier

 22       today to seaplanes.  Do you know how many

 23       seaplanes there might be on Bashan Lake?

 24  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I do not.

 25  MS. HALL:  But are you aware that there are some?
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 01  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Absolutely.  They fly right

 02       over our house.  We're on the north end of the

 03       lake.

 04  MS. HALL:  Okay.  And would these be people who keep

 05       their planes on the lake and, therefore, are

 06       pretty familiar with it?

 07  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Not to my knowledge, no.

 08  MS. HALL:  Okay.  All right.  That's all the questions

 09       I have.  Thank you.

 10  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms. Hall.

 11            We'll now continue with cross-examination by

 12       Mr. Lynch, followed by myself.  Mr. Lynch?

 13  MR. LYNCH:  No questions, Mr. Morissette.

 14  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Lynch.

 15            Mr. Longobardi, I wanted to go to your

 16       balloon pictures.

 17  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Okay.

 18  THE VICE CHAIR:  Is there anything in particular that

 19       you want to point out here for the Council?

 20  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  It's obvious that I don't

 21       see it from my house unless I'm on the lake, but

 22       the people right on East Haddam-Colchester, their

 23       statement from Mr. Allen said that they will not

 24       see it.  I find that hard to believe.

 25            That is -- they're looking out their front
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 01       window.  197 East Haddam-Colchester is absolutely

 02       right across the street from that site.  And I

 03       know there's trees to hide it, but that is a wide

 04       structure.  It's exactly vertical, and there's

 05       going to be racks on the top.

 06            When you're coming down Falls Bashan Road,

 07       you're going to pick that up immediately.  It's

 08       going to be in the center of the road -- looking

 09       right at it.  So, their houses are right on that

 10       end.

 11            Sure, I'll see it when I drive by it in the

 12       morning and at night, but these people are --

 13       that's going to affect the value of their homes.

 14       It's right outside their house.

 15  THE VICE CHAIR:  I take it you're referring to photo

 16       number two and three?

 17  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.

 18  THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Anything else?

 19  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No.

 20            There was -- there was two photos that, on

 21       their LiDAR, it shows that the east side and the

 22       south end of the lake are most affected, but they

 23       did not take any pictures from that end of the

 24       lake, and that was the Laurel Cove photo that I

 25       provided from that beach area, Laurel Cove Road.
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 01            Now, it's -- it's a distance away, but

 02       it's -- it will be very visible from that end of

 03       the lake.

 04  THE VICE CHAIR:  And which photo is that?

 05  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Toward the end where it

 06       says, Laurel Cove Road, southwest end of Bashan

 07       Lake.

 08  THE VICE CHAIR:  Gotcha.  Okay.

 09  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  And I believe that's a

 10       little more than a mile away.

 11  THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.  Okay.  Anything else while

 12       we have the opportunity?

 13  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No, I think I've -- I've

 14       done enough.

 15  THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.

 16  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I've done what I could do.

 17  THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.  Well, we appreciate you

 18       coming out and testifying this afternoon.

 19            So, we'll now continue the cross-examination

 20       by Attorney Baldwin.  Attorney Baldwin?

 21  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 22            A couple of questions all regarding the

 23       photographs, just for clarification.

 24       Mr. Longobardi, do you know what the ground

 25       elevation was at the location where the balloon
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 01       was flown?

 02  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Well, based on your plan,

 03       based on being on the property line 25 feet from

 04       the compound, I think that was a little more than

 05       5 feet lower than the tower site.

 06  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  And according to

 07       WeatherUnderground.com, the winds that day were

 08       between seven and eleven miles an hour.

 09            Is that consistent with your recollection?

 10  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Well, when we started, it

 11       was six.  It was supposed to go to eight.  And

 12       yes, it went up to eleven.

 13            At about 11:30, the balloon popped as it was

 14       moving.

 15  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  We know from that experience.  Thank

 16       you.

 17            Just for some clarification, you referred to

 18       the first, second, and third photographs.  They

 19       are taken from East Haddam-Colchester Road, and

 20       you said compared to photo one, visible.  The next

 21       one is from Falls Bashan Road compared to photo

 22       three, visible -- I'm sorry, that's the third

 23       photograph.

 24            And then the second photograph, Falls Bashan

 25       Road, number five -- that's a property address, by
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 01       the way.  Number five is the property address on

 02       Bashan Lake Road?

 03  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.

 04  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  And then you said photo

 05       number two, visible.  But these are all photos

 06       where the balloon is shown in and amongst the

 07       trees.  The balloon does not eclipse the top of

 08       the trees from those locations.  Correct?

 09  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.  Well -- correct.

 10  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  On several of these

 11       photographs there's a green arrow directed toward

 12       the balloon.  Some of the photographs, you can see

 13       the balloon.  Some of the photographs, the photo

 14       was taken from such a distance that it's very hard

 15       to see the balloon in the photograph.

 16            But just to be clear, the end of that arrow

 17       doesn't identify the location of the balloon.

 18       It's just a directional arrow toward where the

 19       balloon is.  Correct?

 20  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.  So, if you go to

 21       the photos from Bailey Road as compared to the one

 22       photo you guys took from Bailey Road, it is -- it

 23       is very visible.  It's a great portion above the

 24       trees --

 25  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Which --
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 01  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  -- in those two locations.

 02  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Which photo are you referring to?

 03  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I apologize.  I didn't

 04       number them, but I have one here that says 90

 05       Bailey Road, visible.

 06  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Right.  So, again

 07       (unintelligible) --

 08  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  And the one that's -- the

 09       one after this is 20 Bailey Road.  Compare that to

 10       the 21 that you had from -- from, I think it was

 11       south, the south side of 14.

 12  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Well, okay.  Then again, just to be

 13       clear, on the one photograph entitled or labeled,

 14       90 Bailey Road, visible, the arrow points to the

 15       balloon and that's the balloon a certain distance

 16       kind of lower left of that arrow?

 17  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.  I didn't put the

 18       arrow directly on it.

 19  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  And then with respect to the

 20       20 Bailey Road compared to photo 21, if you look

 21       at photo 21, that's not the exact location where

 22       photo 21 was taken.  Correct?

 23  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  It's to the right of that.

 24  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.

 25  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Your 21 is to our -- your 21
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 01       is to the right of that near 14.

 02  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.

 03  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Well, you only had -- you

 04       only had one photo from Bailey Road.  That's why I

 05       referenced that.

 06  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Uh-huh.  That's fine.

 07            So, getting back to a point that Mr. Allen

 08       mentioned in response to some of his questions,

 09       several of these photos where the balloon is

 10       visible or visible through the trees, those

 11       photographs all appear to be consistent with the

 12       findings in the Saratoga report.  And I can refer

 13       you to photos two and three that we talked about

 14       where the balloon is in and amongst the trees.

 15            And then I'll jump to the end of the

 16       photographic array where you talk about locations

 17       at the southeast and southwest portions of the

 18       lake where, again, while it's hard to see in the

 19       photograph because you're, you know, almost a mile

 20       and a half away, that the tower would eclipse the

 21       top of the trees a little bit from those

 22       locations.

 23            And again, that that is consistent with the

 24       findings of the Saratoga report if you review

 25       their viewshed map.  Correct?
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 01  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I agree with you except for

 02       the ones on East Haddam-Colchester.  I think -- I

 03       think the pictures on East Haddam-Colchester were

 04       taken on an angle that there's no way you could

 05       see from -- your photo two, if you went to the

 06       right side of the road and you did your imagery of

 07       the tower, you would have seen what -- what I'm

 08       showing as a balloon.

 09  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  But again, a balloon in and

 10       amongst the trees -- so, visible, visible during

 11       the winter months and consistent with Saratoga's

 12       photo simulation number one, which was taken right

 13       out from in front of the property?

 14  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Again, you'll have to agree

 15       that a balloon is a little less visible than a

 16       tower will be.

 17  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Right.  But you did see this photo

 18       simulation that was provided that shows a

 19       simulated tower from that location right out in

 20       front of the property?

 21  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes, I did see that.

 22  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  Mr. Morissette, that's all I

 23       have.

 24  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

 25            We'll now continue cross-examination by
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 01       Attorney McCann.  Attorney McCann, please?

 02  ATTORNEY McCANN:  I don't have any questions,

 03       Mr. Morissette.  Thank you.

 04  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 05            Okay.  We are now going to move on to the

 06       appearance by the Town of East Haddam.  Will the

 07       Town of East Haddam present its witness panel for

 08       purposes of taking the oath?  We will have

 09       Attorney Bachman who will administer the oath.

 10            Attorney McCann, please begin.

 11  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Mr. Morissette, we don't have any

 12       witnesses from the Town.

 13  THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  We have no witnesses, no

 14       exhibits?

 15  ATTORNEY McCANN:  Correct.

 16  THE VICE CHAIR:  Attorney Bachman, could you help me

 17       out here?  So, we don't cross-examine the Town's

 18       attorney, I would presume?

 19  ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  That's correct, Mr. Morissette.  We

 20       wouldn't cross-examine the Town's attorney, but we

 21       would ask the other parties if they have any

 22       objection to allowing the request for party status

 23       and any statements made therein to be submitted

 24       into the record as a full exhibit without

 25       cross-examination.
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 01            Thank you.

 02  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 03            Attorney Baldwin, do you have any objection?

 04  ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  We have no objection,

 05       Mr. Morissette.

 06  THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.

 07            And Mr. Longobardi, do you have any

 08       objection?

 09  THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I have no objections.

 10  THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Very good.  That concludes our

 11       hearing for this afternoon.

 12            Therefore, before closing the evidentiary

 13       record in this matter, the Connecticut Siting

 14       Council announces that briefs and proposed

 15       findings of fact may be filed with the Council by

 16       any party or intervener no later than June 19,

 17       2025.

 18            The submissions of briefs or proposed

 19       findings of fact are not required by this Council.

 20       Rather, we leave it to the choice of the parties

 21       and interveners.

 22            Anyone who has not become a party or

 23       intervener but who desires to make his or her

 24       views known to the Council may file written

 25       statements to the Council within 30 days of the
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 01       date hereof.

 02            The Council will issue draft findings of

 03       fact, and thereafter parties and interveners may

 04       identify errors or inconsistencies between the

 05       Council's draft findings of fact and the record,

 06       however no new evidence, no new information, and

 07       no arguments and no reply briefs without our

 08       permission will be considered by the Council.

 09            Copies of the transcript of this hearing will

 10       be filed at the East Haddam Town Clerk's office.

 11            I hereby declare this hearing adjourned and

 12       thank you, everyone, for your participation.

 13            Good afternoon.

 14  

 15                        (End:  3:15 p.m.)

 16  

 17  

 18  

 19  

 20  

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  

 25  
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 01                           CERTIFICATE

 02  

 03            I hereby certify that the foregoing 61 pages

 04       are a complete and accurate computer-aided

 05       transcription of my original verbatim notes taken

 06       of the remote teleconference meeting of The

 07       Connecticut Siting Council continued hearing in

 08       Re:  DOCKET NO. 530, HOMELAND TOWERS, LLC, AND

 09       CELLCO PARTNERSHIP D/B/A VERIZON WIRELESS

 10       APPLICATION FOR A CERTIFICATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL

 11       COMPATIBILITY AND PUBLIC NEED FOR THE

 12       CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, AND OPERATION OF A

 13       TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY AND ASSOCIATED

 14       EQUIPMENT LOCATED AT 196 EAST HADDAM-COLCHESTER

 15       TURNPIKE, EAST HADDAM, CONNECTICUT, which was held

 16       before JOHN MORISSETTE, THE VICE CHAIR, on May 20,

 17       2025.

 18  

 19  
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                         Robert G. Dixon, CVR-M 857
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 24  

 25  
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 1                        (Begin:  2:00 p.m.)



 2



 3   THE VICE CHAIR:  Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.



 4        Can everyone hear me okay?



 5             Very good.  Thank you.



 6             This continued evidentiary hearing session is



 7        called to order this Tuesday, May 20, 2025, at 2



 8        p.m.  My name is John Morissette, Vice Chair of



 9        the Connecticut Siting Council.  I am filling in



10        for Chair Katz this afternoon.



11             If you haven't done so already, I ask that



12        everyone please mute their computer audio and/or



13        telephones now.



14             A copy of the prepared agenda is available on



15        the Council's website, along with the record of



16        this matter, the public hearing notice,



17        instructions for public access to this public



18        hearing, and the Council's citizen's guide to the



19        Siting Council's Procedures.



20             Other members of the Council are



21        Mr. Golembiewski, Mr. Nguyen, Mr. Carter,



22        Ms. Hall, Mr. Syme, and Mr. Lynch.  Members of the



23        staff are Executive Director Melanie Bachman,



24        Siting Analyst Ifeanyi Nwankwo, and Administrative



25        Support Lisa Fontaine.
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 1             This evidentiary session is a continuation of



 2        the public hearing held on April 25, 2025.  It is



 3        held pursuant to the provisions of Title 16 of the



 4        Connecticut General Statutes and of the Uniform



 5        Administrative Procedure Act upon an application



 6        from Homeland Towers, LLC, and Cellco Partnership



 7        d/b/a Verizon Wireless for a certificate of



 8        environmental compatibility and public need for



 9        the construction, maintenance, and operation of a



10        telecommunications facility and associated



11        equipment located at 196 East Haddam-Colchester



12        Turnpike in East Haddam, Connecticut.



13             A verbatim transcript will be made of this



14        hearing and deposited in the East Haddam Town



15        Clerk's office for the convenience of the public.



16             The Council will take a 10 to 15-minute break



17        at a convenient juncture around 3:30pm.



18             We'll now move to the continued appearance by



19        the Applicants.  In accordance with the Council's



20        April 25, 2025, continued evidentiary hearing



21        memo, we will continue with the appearance of the



22        Applicants, Homeland Towers, LLC, and Cellco



23        Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless to verify the



24        new exhibits marked as Roman numeral two, items B9



25        and 10 of the hearing program.
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 1             Good afternoon, Attorney Baldwin.



 2   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Good afternoon, Mr. Morissette.



 3        Thank you.



 4             Again, Kenneth Baldwin with Robinson & Cole



 5        on behalf of the Applicant, Homeland Towers and



 6        Cellco Partnership, doing business as Verizon



 7        Wireless.



 8             Our hearing panel today is the same as it was



 9        at the initial hearing.  So, I would just remind



10        our panel that they remain under oath in this



11        proceeding.



12   R A Y M O N D   V E R G A T I,



13   K I P   D i V I T O,



14   E L I Z A B E T H   G L I D D E N,



15   D A V I D   W E I N P A H L,



16   M A T T H E W    W.   A L L E N,



17   P E T E R   G I R A U D E A U,



18   M A R T I N   B R O G I E,



19   J O H N   H O S A K,



20   B R O O K S   T H A C K E R,



21             recalled as witnesses, having been previously



22             sworn, were examined and testified under oath



23             as follows:



24



25   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  We have two additional exhibits to
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 1        offer that were offered last week, Mr. Morissette,



 2        as you stated, listed in the hearing program as



 3        Applicant's Exhibits 9 and 10.  They include what



 4        has been identified as late-file exhibits, which



 5        are the Applicant's responses to the homework



 6        assignments that we had at the end of the prior



 7        proceeding.



 8             And then item ten is a map.  Item ten is a



 9        map that was prepared also in response to some



10        conversations and comments the Council offered



11        with respect to a potential alternative location



12        for the tower site.



13             With that identification, I'll ask a



14        shortened version of our witness panel, did you



15        prepare or assist in the preparation of those two



16        new exhibits identified in the hearing program as



17        Exhibits 9, Applicant's Exhibits 9 and 10?



18             Mr. DiVito?



19   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  Yes.



20   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Vergati?



21   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Yes.



22   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Weinpahl?



23   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.



24   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Allen?



25   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.
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 1   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  And do you have any corrections,



 2        modifications, or clarifications to offer to



 3        either of those two new exhibits?



 4             Mr. DiVito?



 5   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  No.



 6   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Weinpahl?



 7   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  No.



 8   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Allen?



 9   THE WITNESS (Allen):  No.



10   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Vergati?



11   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  No.



12   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  And do you adopt the information



13        contained in those exhibits as your testimony in



14        this proceeding?



15             Mr. DiVito?



16   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  Yes.



17   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Weinpahl?



18   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.



19   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Allen?



20   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.



21   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Vergati?



22   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Yes.



23   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, I offer them as full



24        exhibits.



25   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.
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 1             Does any party or intervener object to the



 2        admission of the Applicant's new exhibits?



 3             Mr. Longobardi?



 4   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  No objection.



 5   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



 6             Attorney McCann?



 7   ATTORNEY McCANN:  No, sir.  Thank you.



 8   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.  The exhibits are hereby



 9        admitted.



10             We will now continue with the



11        cross-examination of the Applicants by the



12        Longobardis.  Mr. Longobardi, please continue.



13   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  I was talking about the



14        visual resource assessment.  One of the questions



15        I have is on page 7 of the visual resource



16        assessment, the VRA.  In the first paragraph you



17        state that photo simulations were developed,



18        superimposed, and rendered on a three-dimensional



19        computer model proposed facility into the base



20        photograph taken from each corresponding visual



21        receptor.



22             Am I correct in saying that there was no



23        receptor?  Or was there some other kind?



24   THE WITNESS (Allen):  This is Matthew Allen, Saratoga



25        Associates.
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 1             I'm sorry.  Could you repeat the question?



 2        I -- I'm not sure I understood.



 3   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  On page 7 of your VRA you state



 4        that you utilize a visual receptor.  Was there a



 5        type of visual receptor in your photos?



 6   THE WITNESS (Allen):  The visual receptor referred to



 7        is the -- if we take corresponding visual



 8        receptor, referring to the camera location, or the



 9        location the photo was taken.



10   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Wouldn't that refer to a balloon



11        or a crane, or something that you could guide your



12        camera to?



13   THE WITNESS (Allen):  This is Matthew Allen again.



14             If you could bear with me just a while I find



15        that exact passage, and that word.



16   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  No problem.  The first paragraph,



17        page 7.



18   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yeah, we're -- we are -- Matthew



19        Allen, Saratoga Associates.



20             We are referring to the location that the



21        photographer was taking -- was standing when the



22        photo was taken, not the subject of the



23        photograph, or not the tower itself.



24   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  So, it's not -- it basically



25        states, corresponding to a visual receptor.  Would
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 1        that not be a balloon, or an object to look at



 2        where the tower location was?



 3   THE WITNESS (Allen):  No, it would not.



 4             It's the inverse of that.



 5   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  On page 3, on Bashan Lake



 6        you state that there are 70 properties that have a



 7        partial view of the facility.  Is that correct?



 8   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen, Saratoga



 9        Associates.



10             Yes.  It says approximately 70 properties.



11   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  And you go on to state that



12        none of these properties within can fall or do



13        fall within a half mile of the facility.  So,



14        nobody within a half a mile of the facility can



15        see -- have the visibility of that.  Correct?



16   THE WITNESS (Allen):  That is correct.  Not to say



17        there are not residential properties within that



18        distance, but there are not residential properties



19        that fall within the identified viewshed area.



20   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  However, within your



21        assessment, you acknowledge that from Bailey Road,



22        which is within that half-mile radius, Number 22



23        does have visibility of that tower?



24   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Based on -- Matthew Allen,



25        Saratoga Associates.
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 1             Based on the viewshed analysis, there are



 2        very small, I'll use the term "keyhole views" or



 3        window views along Bailey Road, isolated views



 4        between gaps in trees.



 5   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  In your VRA you state that



 6        Southwinds Road view was filtered.  Is there -- on



 7        one of your images there, I think it's number 18,



 8        do you have a corresponding photo of that that



 9        simulates where that tower would be from that



10        road?



11   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen, Saratoga



12        Associates.



13             No, we do not.



14   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  My next question is



15        for Homeland Towers.  How wide would the tower be



16        at its base?



17   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air



18        Engineering.



19             The base would be approximately four and a



20        half feet, between four, four and a half feet.



21   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  And how wide would the top section



22        be?  The typical --



23   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  David Weinpahl.



24             Typically, two.  Typically, two feet at the



25        top.
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 1   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  How wide are the



 2        platforms usually on that structure?



 3   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  David Weinpahl, On Air



 4        Engineering.



 5             Twelve-foot is typical for carrier platforms.



 6        We've shown that, I believe, in the plans for



 7        Verizon.



 8   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  This goes probably back to



 9        Homeland.  In question 59 from the pre-hearing



10        interrogatories you estimate the height of the



11        tree is between 70 and 80 feet.  Is that correct?



12   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, I think the response



13        speaks for itself, that that's exactly what the



14        response says.



15   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  All right.  So, if we average



16        that --



17   THE VICE CHAIR:  Please continue.



18   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  If we average that at 75, the



19        155-foot tower would be 80 feet above the trees.



20             Correct?



21   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yeah.  Matthew Allen, Saratoga



22        Associates.



23             Mathematically?  Yes, but you have to factor



24        in visual perspective, the line of sight.



25   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  And with the 20-foot extension, it
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 1        would be 100-foot -- above the trees?



 2   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen.



 3             Again, mathematically that is correct, but



 4        that's not how line of sights work.



 5   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  I understand that.



 6             The FAA at this time is not requiring the



 7        tower to be marked or lit.  Correct?



 8   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.



 9             That is correct.  It's not required to be lit



10        or marked.



11   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Was there any mention regarding



12        seaplanes landing and taking off on Bashan Lake



13        with the FAA?



14   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.



15             We simply run an FAA study.  They come back



16        and tell us if the site complies with the



17        guidelines, if it needs to be lit and marked, and



18        what height it can go up to without marking and



19        lighting.



20             I believe in this case -- and I'll double



21        check -- I think it can go up to 199.  I think we



22        also received a letter from the Connecticut



23        airports asking us to file an additional form,



24        which we did, and there were no FAA issues that



25        came back on the proposed facility.
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 1   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Since those seaplanes take off in



 2        a north-to-south and south-to-north direction, is



 3        there anything preventing the FAA requesting the



 4        tower to be lit in the future?



 5   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati.



 6             I can't speak for the FAA future plans, but



 7        right now they've come back and have stated that



 8        the tower does not need to be marked or lit.



 9   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, for the record I'll



10        just point to Applicant's Exhibit Number 6, which



11        is that FAA final determination.



12   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.



13   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



14   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  This question is for the RF



15        engineers.  Can you provide propagation maps or a



16        map with all the frequencies on one sheet to find



17        out what the total coverage is?  Is that feasible?



18   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



19        Wireless.



20             It is feasible.  We just don't often do that



21        because you get 700 frequency that would just



22        drown out all the others.



23   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.



24   THE VICE CHAIR:  At this point -- in the hearing we're



25        not accepting any more late files in this hearing.
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 1   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.



 2   THE VICE CHAIR:  We have enough information on the



 3        record to obtain frequency information.



 4             Thank you.



 5   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Okay.  If this tower is approved,



 6        is there a possibility that Verizon will not



 7        develop the transfer station since it's only 1.38



 8        miles away?



 9   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



10        Wireless.



11             No, we already have plans to move forward



12        with that site.



13   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  If you develop the transfer



14        station first, is it possible that the existing



15        search ring will change?



16   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



17        Wireless.



18             No, it will not.



19   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  On the next question -- I don't



20        know if this is a town question.  The lot in front



21        that is the vacant lot that's been noted, will



22        that still be able to be developed as a home?



23   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Yeah.  Mr. Morissette, I'll -- not



24        to be dramatic, but I'll object.  I'm not sure



25        that anyone on our witness panel can address that
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 1        question.



 2   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Yeah.  And like I said, I think



 3        that was a town question.  Sorry.



 4   THE VICE CHAIR:  Yes, I'd refer that to the Town,



 5        please.  Thank you.



 6   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  I think I'm all done with



 7        questions.



 8   THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.  Thank you, Mr. Longobardi.



 9             We now have Attorney McCann cross-examine the



10        Applicant.  Attorney McCann?



11   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  Brian



12        McCann of Zabel Schellenberg for the Town of East



13        Haddam.  Thank you for the opportunity.



14             My first question is regarding public



15        engagement.  The Town is obviously concerned that



16        the appropriate number of individuals were made



17        aware of the application and were able to voice



18        their concerns, if any.



19             And I was just curious if the panel had a



20        position as to whether a balloon test would have



21        been a more effective way to inform the public and



22        demonstrate the visual impact of the proposed



23        tower?



24   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen, Saratoga



25        Associates.
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 1             From a public information perspective, a



 2        balloon would have provided opportunity for direct



 3        observation.  From a visual impact perspective or



 4        an analysis perspective, it is unnecessary given



 5        all the other technically accurate tools that are



 6        available for assessment.



 7             I -- I testified last time in some depth on



 8        how we use those technical tools.  I'm happy to



 9        answer more questions about that, if you like.



10   ATTORNEY McCANN:  No, no.  I listened to that.  Thank



11        you.



12             In the conclusory paragraph on your visual



13        assessment analysis you had said the potential



14        project visibility is not of a size or extent that



15        it would constitute an unacceptable magnitude, nor



16        does the facility affect a sufficient number of



17        public viewers or geographic area where the



18        facility can reasonably be deemed to be visually



19        important.



20             I'm just curious in the context of that, of



21        those two sentences, was it taken into account



22        that the Bashan Lake is a state-owned public



23        recreation property?



24   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, it does, given that the --



25        Matthew Allen, Saratoga Associates.  I'm sorry.
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 1             Yes, the analysis does consider the lake



 2        surface.  The viewshed analysis identifies the



 3        geographic area on the lake where visibility would



 4        occur, and the nearest area of visibility on the



 5        lake, I believe, is very close to a mile away.



 6        Anything closer than a mile is screened by



 7        shoreline vegetation.



 8   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  And was there analysis as to



 9        how much of the lake approximately that that



10        encompasses at a greater distance than a mile from



11        the proposed tower?



12   THE WITNESS (Allen):  This is Matthew Allen.



13             Yeah, if I could take a moment to find that?



14        I -- I expect it does.



15             Yes.  Yeah, approximately 285 acres of Bashan



16        Lake would be -- of the surface of Bashan Lake



17        would be affected.  I'm sorry.  And also let me



18        clarify.  My report also says 501 acres within a



19        half a mile of the facility would be affected.



20             So, I'm sorry.  The number I was referring to



21        that I said was a mile, I was mistaken.  The



22        number is -- a half a mile is about where the



23        shoreline vegetation would screen the tower.



24   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Is that the third-to-last paragraph



25        of page 18 where it says from 253 acres of water
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 1        surface?



 2   THE WITNESS (Allen):  It's Matthew Allen.



 3             I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that?  You were



 4        breaking up just a little bit.



 5   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I was asking whether



 6        that analysis is summarized on the third-to-last



 7        paragraph on page 18 of the report where it says



 8        253 acres of water surface.



 9             So, more specifically the paragraph that's



10        labeled, visibility from Bashan Lake, Moodus



11        Reservoir, and Pickerel Lake.



12   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen.



13             I think you're referring to page 8.  There's



14        a divider bar before the 8, so it's not 18.  It's



15        page 8.



16   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Oh, I'm sorry.



17   THE WITNESS (Allen):  That's okay.  Yeah, and it does



18        say, viewshed analysis indicates the facility



19        could be visible from 253 acres of water surface.



20        That would be the sum of Bashan Lake, Moodus



21        Reservoir, and Pickerel Lake.



22   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.



23             Was there a visual impact assessment



24        performed from the Laurel Cove area of the lake?



25   THE WITNESS (Allen):  And again, Matthew Allen.
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 1             Again, I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that?



 2        From what location on the lake?



 3   ATTORNEY McCANN:  From the Laurel Cove area of Bashan



 4        Lake.



 5   THE WITNESS (Allen):  I would ask for any assistance



 6        from my panel which is Laurel Cove?



 7             I believe that's --



 8   A VOICE:  Yes.



 9   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, Matthew Allen.



10             The viewshed analysis, which is figure A-1 in



11        the visual impact assessment, the viewshed



12        analysis identifies the -- the water surface of



13        Bashan Lake that is affected, which includes the



14        Laurel Cove area.



15   A VOICE:  It does include.



16   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yeah.  And there, there is also



17        an area on the western side of Laurel Cove that



18        would be screened by shoreline vegetation.  So,



19        that is unaffected and that's illustrated in



20        figure A-1.



21   ATTORNEY McCANN:  This question may be for Mr. Brogie.



22        Given the fact that the proposed tower is within



23        an upland review area, pursuant to the Town's



24        inland wetlands regulations, are there any wetland



25        impact mitigation measures proposed as part of the
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 1        application?



 2   THE WITNESS (Brogie):  Based on the as-built condition



 3        of the tower, as we testified the last time, we



 4        would not expect any -- certainly, no direct



 5        impacts to the wetlands.  And given the size of



 6        the tower base and how stormwater is basically



 7        managed in and around the tower, creating no



 8        runoff, we would not expect any impacts to the



 9        wetland.



10             We have provided some mitigation guidance for



11        during construction, as we did identify some



12        low-level amphibian activity in the -- in the



13        wetland area nearest to the tower.  And so, we



14        provided some documentation and protocols for



15        contractors to follow during construction to



16        mitigate any impacts to amphibians.



17   THE REPORTER:  May I have the name of the last witness?



18   THE WITNESS (Brogie):  Martin Brogie, for the record.



19             Apologies.



20   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.  And have any prudent and



21        feasible alternatives been examined?



22   THE WITNESS (Brogie):  Yes, we proposed an alternative



23        tower location which was submitted to the Council.



24             Martin Brogie.



25   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  And for the Court Reporter, that
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 1        Mr. Brogie is referring to Applicant's Exhibit 10.



 2   ATTORNEY McCANN:  The next question is, I heard some



 3        testimony in the last hearing that there, there



 4        will be certain portions of Route 149 that will



 5        still have dead zones carriers with inadequate



 6        service even after the submission of this instant



 7        proposed tower.



 8             Therefore, can we assume that additional



 9        towers will be necessary to the west of the



10        proposed tower?



11   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



12        Wireless.



13             As always, we would move forward with our



14        current plan for our network and then conduct more



15        testing on the network after to consider what



16        would be needed.



17   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.



18   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  So, I don't -- I'm not going to



19        assume that.



20   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Can you confirm, though, that there



21        will be even -- after the installation of this



22        tower, there will be what I'm calling dead zones



23        around/along the 149 corridor?



24   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



25        Wireless.
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 1             I -- I believe there's going to be areas of



 2        service that will not have reliable in-building or



 3        in-vehicle service.



 4   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  I heard some testimony during



 5        the last hearing about RF overlaps and that there



 6        can be problems associated with RF overlaps.



 7             Did I hear that correctly?



 8   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



 9        Wireless.



10             There can be.  It causes interference, so



11        that's why once sites get built and on air we do



12        testing to make sure that we mitigate that



13        interference.  You might draw back a sector so



14        you're covering less of an area, or maybe you



15        don't need to do that, but it -- it is possible.



16   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  So my follow-up question then



17        is, if we assume that there will be an additional



18        tower necessary for portions of Route 149, will



19        there then be a potential for RF overlap from the



20        instant tower?



21   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  So, this is Kip DiVito with



22        Verizon Wireless.



23             So again, after we move forward with our plan



24        if, you know, granted, we would do testing.  We



25        might not put up a tower.  You might need small
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 1        cells.  It's -- we don't want to cause



 2        interference, so we're not going to assume that we



 3        would have to build another tower.



 4   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  Would any part of that



 5        analysis potentially conclude to a tower of lesser



 6        height or magnitude at the current location?



 7   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



 8        Wireless.



 9             No, I mean -- so, for a few reasons, if we



10        were to reduce our current tower, we would reduce



11        the amount of in-building and in-vehicle coverage



12        area greatly.  Second of all, we reduce our



13        ability to hand off for sure with our on-air site



14        that is East Haddam two, which is the American



15        Legion's building.  It's on a light pole.  It's, I



16        believe, 89 feet.



17             So, it's -- building a smaller tower here



18        would just lessen the ability to cover Route 149,



19        produce a larger gap.  And then you -- you would



20        reduce the ability to hand off north and south to



21        our proposed sites, but approval to move forward



22        with sites and that transfer station and Mount



23        Parnassus Road.



24             So, from an RF perspective, the current



25        height we have right now is exactly what we need.
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 1   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.



 2             I'm curious if any consideration regarding



 3        the design or siting of the instant tower, if any



 4        consideration was given to the local zoning code.



 5        Specifically, within that zoning code for the Town



 6        of East Haddam is that the location standards,



 7        locations in order of preference for facilities on



 8        existing or approved towers, number one; within



 9        existing structures, number two; on existing



10        structures, number three; non-sensitive areas,



11        number four; in sensitive areas with low visual



12        impact, number five; or in sensitive areas with



13        high visual impacts with mitigation, number six.



14             Was there any consideration given to similar



15        factors in this application?



16   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati, Homeland



17        Towers.



18             We certainly try to look at local zoning regs



19        when siting these towers.  It's -- it's a delicate



20        balance.  You know, I think the first few that you



21        just listed, from a preference standpoint from the



22        Town -- many towns, is to find a suitable



23        structure, be it a water tank, transmission pole,



24        an existing tower, a billboard, a rooftop, and



25        that's what the carriers always look for.
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 1        Obviously, if there's an existing structure with



 2        adequate height that performs for the carrier and



 3        provides relief on the coverage gaps, then that's



 4        where they'll go.



 5             In this particular area of East Haddam there



 6        are no existing structures with adequate height,



 7        i.e., again, water tanks, transmission poles,



 8        existing towers, and so forth.  So, you have to



 9        find a raw land site.  It's a delicate -- when I



10        say by raw land, you have to build a tower.



11             So, it's a balance of -- of working with the



12        engineer, working with the terrain.  You don't



13        want to build it in a hole where it's not going to



14        perform well.  So, we take into consideration a



15        number of factors in trying to site the tower



16        that's going to be the best location, both for



17        Verizon and the community and for public safety,



18        for aesthetics, for environmental, and so forth.



19   ATTORNEY McCANN:  For several of the alternative sites



20        investigated in this site search summary by



21        Homeland the summary of outreach to owners states,



22        the owner did not respond with interest in



23        pursuing a lease with either Homeland Towers or



24        Verizon.



25             I'm curious on two things; number one, if
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 1        that was sort of the end of the inquiry, or if --



 2        if other additional contact efforts were made; and



 3        also, just sort of generally, whether any of those



 4        sites were deemed more -- were deemed, you know,



 5        preferable or a better alternative, but not



 6        explored because of that response that -- the lack



 7        of response that I just cited?



 8   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.



 9             We send out letters, obviously, to the



10        homeowners via certified and regular mailings.



11        Both Verizon did this as well as Homeland Towers.



12        When we don't receive a response back from a



13        landlord from the multiple letters that go out to



14        the area, we take it as a non-interest.



15             We try to work with interested landlords.  We



16        try to work with sites that we feel, again, are



17        going to be the best location to site a tower with



18        the least visual environmental impact to an area,



19        again looking at the terrain, working with the



20        engineers for the network design, making sure the



21        gap is filled and remedied by a tower.



22   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  And I guess my followup to



23        that was, if any of those alternate property



24        owners did respond, or there, you know, there were



25        different facts regarding their response, was it
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 1        deemed that any of those towers would have been



 2        comparable or even more preferred than the instant



 3        site?



 4   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  So again, Ray Vergati, Homeland



 5        Towers.



 6             I can tell you from my site search summary



 7        from the exhibit that there were some property



 8        owners that did respond with interest.  And they



 9        were certainly vetted and looked at.



10             As an example, I think it's Birch Acres, LLC,



11        was one of the properties on Alger Road, and I had



12        met with the property owners, and on two or three



13        occasions walked the property.  The property has



14        major wetlands.  It has frontage on Bashan Lake.



15        We have a house directly across the street, and it



16        was very limited where we can site the tower.



17             So, even though I had an interested landlord



18        willing to sign a lease with Homeland Towers, we



19        did not pursue it because we felt that, A, we had



20        a house, I believe it may have been 300 feet



21        directly across the street.  And I had a major



22        wetland coming through the property, a stream



23        leading into Bashan Lake, and we didn't want to



24        cross that stream to site the tower.



25   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Thank you.
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 1             Lastly, I posed a question from my client



 2        directly to Attorney Baldwin.  And I don't know if



 3        anyone can speak to this, but we asked the



 4        Applicant through counsel if they could respond to



 5        analysis, a hypothetical analysis if the tower



 6        were sited at 120 feet.



 7             Attorney Baldwin, can someone speak to that



 8        from the panel?



 9   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  Yes, this is Kip DiVito with



10        Verizon Wireless.



11             We did look at that, and I still stand by my



12        previous statement about reducing the tower height



13        and the coverage issues that that would cause, the



14        handoff issues that that would cause.  And just in



15        general, building a smaller tower reduces the, you



16        know, co-locatability of it.



17             So that, the height we're at right now is



18        what we need for the coverage needs in the area



19        both in-home and in-vehicle reliability.



20   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Okay.  Thank you, all.  That's all I



21        have.  I appreciate the responses.



22   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney McCann.



23             We'll now continue with cross-examination of



24        the Applicant on the new exhibits by the Council,



25        starting with Mr. Nwankwo, followed by
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 1        Mr. Golembiewski.  Mr. Nwankwo, Good afternoon.



 2   MR. NWANKWO:  Good afternoon.  Thank you, Mr. Vice



 3        Chair.



 4             I'd like to refer to attachment A, which is



 5        part of the Applicant's response to council



 6        interrogatory number 55.  My question is, what is



 7        the distance of the Snell-Talbot Preserve from the



 8        proposed tower?



 9   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Nwankwo.  You said



10        question 55?



11   MR. NWANKWO:  Yes, council interrogatory number 55.



12



13                             (Pause.)



14



15   THE WITNESS (Allen):  What was the name of the



16        preserve?



17   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Could --



18   MR. NWANKWO:  I believe the response was attachment



19        one, which is just a revised viewshed map.



20   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  To the interrogatories?



21   MR. NWANKWO:  Yes.



22             The viewshed map does show two preserves, the



23        Bloch Preserve and the Snell-Talbot Preserve.



24   THE WITNESS (Allen):  What interrogatory number was it?



25   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Fifty-five.
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 1   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, Matthew Allen, Saratoga



 2        Associates.



 3             The distance from the tower to the nearest



 4        point on the Snell-Talbot Preserve, I don't have



 5        an exact dimension, but using the one-half-mile



 6        radius ring it appears to be less than a quarter



 7        mile to the nearest point in the Snell-Talbot



 8        Preserve.



 9   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



10             Would the tower be visible from that, from



11        that preserve?



12   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Matthew Allen.



13             The viewshed map indicates that it would be



14        screened by intervening vegetation.  I find no



15        areas of visibility based on viewshed analysis in



16        the Snell-Talbot Preserve.



17   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



18             Also, in looking at the visual assessment



19        report, several photo locations are labeled as



20        filtered.  Could you define what filtered means?



21   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes, filtered means -- Matthew



22        Allen.



23             Filtered means that visibility may be



24        possible through intervening tree trunks and



25        branches in a seasonal leaf-off condition.  Such





                                 32

�









 1        visibility would likely be fully screened during a



 2        summer leaf-on condition.



 3   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you for that.



 4             Based on that, I'm wondering why, other than



 5        photos 5 and 15, the photo sims were not shown at



 6        any of the other filtered photo locations?



 7   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen.



 8             The locations for photo simulations were



 9        selected to provide representative -- to



10        illustrate representative views, not to be fully



11        comprehensive of all photographs taken.



12   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



13             Could the Applicant summarily compare the



14        photo simulations provided in the visual



15        assessment report with the balloon float pictures



16        provided by Mr. Longobardi?



17   THE WITNESS (Allen):  Yes.  Matthew Allen.



18             Let me just pull out -- yes, I have looked at



19        Mr. Longobardi's photographs.  I have a number of



20        questions in order to fully understand the



21        photographs taken of the balloon.



22             Yeah, some of the questions I have were --



23        that was not provided were the exact latitude and



24        longitude where the balloon was flown, the -- the



25        exact ground elevation of where the balloon was
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 1        flown, the height of the balloon; and concerning



 2        the photographs themselves, the exact location



 3        where the photographs were taken, latitude and



 4        longitude, elevation, and importantly, the focal



 5        length of the -- the photographs.



 6             In comparing Mr. Longobardi's photographs



 7        with the photographs that are in the visual



 8        assessment, I have no reason to believe that they



 9        are, you know, in any way inaccurate, but for the



10        questions that I have just to confirm the degree



11        of visibility.



12             But what I find in looking at comparing



13        Mr. Longobardi's photographs with the photographs



14        in the visual assessment report, I find a great



15        deal of consistency in -- in almost all of the



16        photographs.



17   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



18             I would like to refer to the supplemental



19        information identified as Exhibit 10.  Would this



20        revised location impact Cellco's coverage



21        objectives?



22   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



23        Wireless.



24             No, it will not.



25   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.
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 1             Would this revised location also impact



 2        radiofrequency emissions?



 3   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



 4        Wireless.



 5             No.



 6   MR. NWANKWO:  In addition to that, would the revised



 7        location impact the number of trees that will be



 8        required to be cleared?



 9   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air



10        Engineering.



11             The early estimate is the tree quantity would



12        maybe jump up to around 25.  For removal, that



13        area has not been surveyed to date yet in detail,



14        so that that amount could vary after -- it should



15        be going in another direction in this area with



16        tree locations and sizes.  We could also shape our



17        compound accordingly to perhaps save some of the



18        larger trees that might be up in that area.



19             But tree quantity was originally 17.  We're



20        now projecting maybe 25 for the alternate.



21   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



22             How would this revised location affect the



23        size of the total area of disturbance?



24   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air



25        Engineering.
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 1             I think we have -- we didn't run the full



 2        calculations on it, but it would be reduced



 3        slightly.  We've been able to shift the tower into



 4        the center of the compound here.  We previously



 5        had a limit of disturbance approximately 20 feet



 6        from the central wetland, which could now be



 7        approximately 60 feet in this alternate location.



 8             Additionally, previously we had a 40-foot



 9        setback from that same wetland to the compound



10        corner, and as previously testified and as noted



11        in this exhibit, that could be 80 feet now with



12        the compound corner to that wetland.



13   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



14             So, does that mean the total LOD would



15        increase or decrease?



16   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  David Weinpahl, On Air



17        Engineering.



18             It would be similar, a similar size.



19   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



20             Also referencing the revised location, would



21        operational noise levels at the property line



22        still be compliant with state standards?



23   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air



24        Engineering.



25             Yes, they would.
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 1   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



 2             And lastly, would the yield point on the



 3        tower affect the feasibility of a future tower



 4        extension?



 5   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air



 6        Engineering.



 7             No, I don't believe that would be an issue



 8        with the yield point design in -- in either



 9        location.



10   MR. NWANKWO:  So, just to be clear, if a yield point is



11        installed, it doesn't inhibit future tower



12        extensions?



13   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yes.  David Weinpahl, On Air



14        Engineering.



15             The yield point could be designed in a number



16        of ways considering a future extension or not



17        considering it, depending on what the Council



18        prefers.  The manufacturer is able to design these



19        multiple ways.  For either of the locations it



20        wouldn't have an impact.



21   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.



22        That will be all my questions.



23   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nwankwo.



24             We'll now continue with cross-examination of



25        the Applicant by Mr. Nguyen, followed by





                                 37

�









 1        Mr. Carter.  Mr. Nguyen, good afternoon.



 2   MR. NGUYEN:  Good afternoon, Vice Chair Morissette.



 3             I do not have any questions from the



 4        late-filed exhibits.  Thank you.



 5   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.



 6             We'll now continue with cross-examination by



 7        Mr. Carter, followed by Ms. Hall.  Mr. Carter,



 8        good afternoon.



 9   MR. CARTER:  Good afternoon, Vice Chair Morissette.



10             I actually do not have any further questions



11        based on the late files.  So, thank you.



12   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.



13             We'll now continue with cross-examination by



14        Ms. Hall, followed by Mr. Lynch.  Ms. Hall, good



15        afternoon.



16   MS. HALL:  Good afternoon.



17             I too have no further questions on the



18        late-filed exhibits.



19   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms. Hall.



20             We'll now continue with cross-examination by



21        Mr. Lynch, followed by myself.  Mr. Lynch, good



22        afternoon.



23   MR. LYNCH:  Good afternoon, Mr. Morissette.



24             I just have one question that is a clarifying



25        question, and that is on the tower's yield point.
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 1        Have you ever heard of a monopole, not a lattice



 2        tower, collapsing on itself or with a yield point?



 3   THE WITNESS (Weinpahl):  Yeah.  David Weinpahl, On Air



 4        Engineering.



 5             I have not heard of a tower collapsing upon



 6        itself with a yield point.  I'm not aware of or



 7        have no knowledge of -- of that, despite that



 8        being inherently in some of the designs that the



 9        tower manufacturers have put forth.



10   MR. LYNCH:  Thank you for that answer.



11             You have verified something that I thought



12        for a long time, you know, about yield points.



13        So, thank you very much.



14             Those are my questions, Mr. Morissette.



15   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Lynch.



16             First of all, I'd like to start off by saying



17        for the record, the questioning I had about



18        coverage during our last hearing, I did have the



19        opportunity to look at section 16, and I now



20        understand the additional coverage from the



21        transfer station.  So thank you, everyone, for



22        your patience in that regard.



23             I do have a follow-up question on the



24        interrogatory or the late-filed responses.  The



25        first one has to do with question one.  Now, the
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 1        dropped-call level that you're trying to get to is



 2        .6 percent.  And I noticed in the interrogatory



 3        they were in the 2 -- 2 and a half, 2 percent.



 4             So, by adding this facility, do you think



 5        you're going to get down to .6?  Or is it even



 6        something lower?



 7   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



 8        Wireless.



 9             I can't really say that we should get down to



10        that on all these sectors.  These, these numbers



11        that were -- that we submitted, they were given to



12        us by our system performance engineers.  That's



13        really -- their role on this network is to monitor



14        these key performance issues.  And, you know, .6



15        is our goal for a market-wide thing, or, you know,



16        KPI.



17             So, our goal is, of course, with this site



18        and the other sites that we -- we've looked at and



19        have plans for is to get these sectors that we've



20        listed here, which do feed into this area, down to



21        .6 percent or below call-drop percentage.  But



22        again, it -- a network is always evolving and



23        growing, and we -- we design and then we test.



24   THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Well, just for my education



25        here -- so for example, Haddam, Connecticut is
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 1        2.92.  Is that a large jump from going from 2.92



 2        down to .6?



 3   THE WITNESS (DiVito):  This is Kip DiVito with Verizon



 4        Wireless.



 5             I believe it is.  Again, this is its -- it's



 6        not my role at Verizon to look at these numbers on



 7        a daily basis like our system performance does,



 8        but I can say that Haddam there, that's -- that's



 9        a pretty faraway site across the river that's



10        extending it, overextending itself into the area.



11             So, that would be this -- this proposed site



12        would be extremely beneficial to pull that, give



13        that site a chance to be pulled back in, better



14        serving the people in Haddam as well.



15   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



16             I was trying to get a feel for how



17        significant the change that you're trying to



18        achieve is, and I'm interpreting that that's a



19        pretty sizable drop to get to .6 for the Haddam,



20        Connecticut facility -- but thank you for that



21        information.



22             The new proposed location, do you support the



23        new location?  Or do you prefer the old location?



24   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati, Homeland



25        Towers.
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 1             From Homeland's perspective, they're kind of



 2        apples to apples in a sense.  We're talking about



 3        logistically a 40-foot move.  I think the -- the



 4        proposed location versus the alternate location,



 5        each has some slight advantages or disadvantages.



 6        What I would tell you, the proposed location is



 7        set further back from the East Haddam-Colchester,



 8        Turnpike, however the limit of disturbance is



 9        closer to the low-functioning wetland there,



10        roughly 20 feet away.



11             The alternate location that's further north



12        on the property, I think we've shifted the tower



13        roughly 65 feet.  We have some ledge to contend



14        with there, but we're further from the wetlands.



15        So again, each site has its advantage or



16        disadvantage.  I will say from a ground elevation,



17        they're both 451, 451 and a half.  So, there's no



18        difference from that perspective.



19             I have a willing landlord that is -- is open



20        to the alternate location, so that's not an issue



21        for us.  So, I would basically say that from our



22        preference, we don't have a preference.  We'll go



23        either way should the Council deem to approve



24        the -- the docket.



25   THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Very good.  Thank you.
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 1             My last question has to do -- we received a



 2        comment from a resident in East Haddam and he was



 3        talking about the deed restriction to the East



 4        Haddam Land Trust and Mr. Brownell's property.



 5             Is there a deed restriction associated with



 6        this property?



 7   THE WITNESS (Vergati):  This is Ray Vergati, Homeland



 8        Towers.



 9             There's no deed restriction on the subject



10        parcel, which is 196 East Haddam-Colchester



11        Turnpike where the tower is proposed.



12             The -- the abutting parcel, which I believe



13        you're talking about, which is the Brownell



14        Preserve, I believe that that property has been



15        deeded to the land trust for future, you know,



16        non-development.  It does not affect the subject



17        parcel.  It does not affect our access.  It does



18        not affect us whatsoever.



19   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you for that clarification.



20             Okay.  That concludes my cross-examination



21        for this afternoon.  We will now move on to the



22        appearance by Stephen and CindyAnn Longobardi.



23        Will the party present its witness panel for the



24        purpose of taking the oath, and we'll have



25        Attorney Bachman administer the oath.
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 1             Stephan and Cindy-Ann, please?



 2   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  Stephen.



 3   THE VICE CHAIR:  Is CindyAnn also going to participate?



 4   STEPHEN LONGOBARDI:  No, not at this time.



 5   THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Attorney Bachman, please



 6        administer the oath.



 7   ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.



 8             Mr. Longobardi, could you please raise your



 9        right hand?



10   S T E P H E N    L O N G O B A R D I,



11             called as a witness, being sworn by



12             THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, was examined and



13             testified under oath as follows:



14



15   ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.



16   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Bachman.



17             We'll now verify Mr. Longobardi's exhibits.



18        Stephen Longobardi, you have offered the exhibits



19        listed under the hearing program as Roman numeral



20        3B, 1 through 3, for identification purposes.



21             Is there any objection to making these



22        exhibits for identification purposes only at this



23        time?



24   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No.



25   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.  Stephen Longobardi, did
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 1        you prepare or assist in the preparation of



 2        Exhibit 3B, 1 through 3?



 3   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.  I'm assuming you are



 4        referring to the photos.  That was the number for



 5        it?



 6   THE VICE CHAIR:  No, there's three exhibits; the



 7        request for party status, the pre-filed testimony,



 8        and visual assessment, one, two, and three.



 9   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.  Yes, it was me.



10   THE VICE CHAIR:  Great.  Thank you.



11             Do you have any additions, clarifications,



12        deletions, or modification to these documents?



13   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I do not.



14   THE VICE CHAIR:  Are these exhibits true and accurate



15        to the best of your knowledge?



16   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes, they are.



17   THE VICE CHAIR:  Do you offer these exhibits as your



18        testimony here today?



19   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.



20   THE VICE CHAIR:  And do you offer these as full



21        exhibits?



22   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes.



23   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



24             Does any party object to the admission of



25        Stephan Longobardi's exhibits?  Attorney Baldwin?
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 1   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Mr. Morissette, I don't have an



 2        objection.  I just want to point out we didn't



 3        receive the photographs until yesterday, the day



 4        before the continuation of the hearing.



 5             But with that noted in the record, I have no



 6        objection.



 7   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.



 8             Attorney McCann?



 9   ATTORNEY McCANN:  No objection, Mr. Morissette.



10   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



11             The exhibits are hereby admitted.



12             We will now begin with cross-examination of



13        Stephen Longobardi by the Council, starting with



14        Mr. Nwankwo, followed by Mr. Nguyen.  Mr. Nwankwo?



15   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.



16             My first question, what alternative sites did



17        you suggest during the municipal consultation?



18   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I'm sorry.  Can you say that



19        again?



20   MR. NWANKWO:  What alternative sites did you suggest



21        during the municipal consultation?



22   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I did not.



23   MR. NWANKWO:  Okay.  Thank you.



24   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Besides the transfer



25        station.
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 1   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you for that.



 2             What alternatives to a new tower do you



 3        believe are feasible for Verizon's coverage



 4        objectives?



 5   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  The only thing that I was



 6        basing my alternatives on was distances between



 7        towers, and that would be between the transfer



 8        station and the new Mount Parnassus site.  I did



 9        not think it was necessary since there's an



10        overlap between these two sites.



11   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



12             I have a few questions on the balloon float.



13        When was the balloon float done, and for how long



14        was the balloon up?



15   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I believe it was April 14th,



16        from 9:30 to 11:30.



17   MR. NWANKWO:  To what height was the balloon raised?



18   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Raised to 155 feet.



19   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



20             Was it flown from the center of the proposed



21        tower location?



22   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I didn't want to trespass,



23        so we were on the property line 25 feet west of



24        the compound on the Brownell property.



25   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.
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 1             Could you provide any information on what



 2        type of camera was used to acquire the pictures?



 3        For example, the megapixels, the lens, the camera



 4        model, the lens setting?



 5   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes, sir.  The camera was a



 6        Nikon P900, at 55 millimeter.



 7   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.



 8             Would you have any preference for any stealth



 9        tower design options or camouflaging, and also



10        landscaping for the compound or the compound



11        enclosure?



12   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No, not at this time.



13   MR. NWANKWO:  Thank you.  That will be all my



14        questions, Mr. Vice Chair.



15   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nwankwo.  We'll now



16        continue the cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen,



17        followed by Mr. Carter.  Mr. Nguyen?



18   MR. NGUYEN:  Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.



19             Yeah, Mr. Longobardi, I appreciate your



20        participation in this proceeding.  Just a quick



21        question for you, and that is with respect to the



22        proposed location and the -- just introduced to



23        the alternative location.



24             I'm just curious regarding your thoughts.



25        What would you prefer in terms of the location?
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 1   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  It -- it's not going to



 2        affect me.  We would drive -- that's our driveway.



 3        We drive by it every day.  Moving it closer to



 4        East Haddam-Colchester Turnpike gets it farther



 5        away from the wetlands, but I don't know how many



 6        trees they'll have to take down to move it closer



 7        to there.



 8   MR. NGUYEN:  Okay.  And that's all.  Thank you.  And



 9        that's all I have, Mr. Morissette.



10   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.



11             We'll now continue with cross-examination by



12        Mr. Carter, followed by Ms. Hall.  Mr. Carter?



13   MR. CARTER:  Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair, and thank you,



14        Mr. Longobardi, for joining us and participating.



15             I'm not going to take up too much time.  I



16        just want to look at your pre-filed testimony, and



17        I was just wondering if you could elaborate a bit



18        on question six, which was participating in the



19        Town's municipal review.



20   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I'm sorry.  Could you ask --



21        could you repeat that question, please?



22   MR. CARTER:  Sure.  I just wanted to get some more



23        detail about question six from your pre-filed



24        testimony, which was about your role in the Town's



25        municipal review.
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 1   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Okay.  Yeah, I -- I did go



 2        to that meeting.  Mr. Vergati and Mr. Baldwin were



 3        there making their presentation.  There was quite



 4        a few people in the room.  I don't know if enough



 5        people were notified.



 6             A lot of the people around the lake are



 7        seasonal, so that's -- that's a disadvantage for



 8        us.  I know they followed up with answers to the



 9        questions as best they could.  I don't think they



10        eliminated any that were asked.  Obviously, it's



11        very visible from the lake, especially by -- by



12        the LiDAR notation.  So, people were -- were



13        visually upset.



14   MR. CARTER:  Thank you.



15             And Vice Chair, that is all that I have.  So,



16        thank you.



17   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.



18             We'll now continue with cross-examination by



19        Ms. Hall, followed by Mr. Lynch.  Ms. Hall?



20   MS. HALL:  Thank you.



21             I was intrigued by the reference earlier



22        today to seaplanes.  Do you know how many



23        seaplanes there might be on Bashan Lake?



24   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I do not.



25   MS. HALL:  But are you aware that there are some?
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 1   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Absolutely.  They fly right



 2        over our house.  We're on the north end of the



 3        lake.



 4   MS. HALL:  Okay.  And would these be people who keep



 5        their planes on the lake and, therefore, are



 6        pretty familiar with it?



 7   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Not to my knowledge, no.



 8   MS. HALL:  Okay.  All right.  That's all the questions



 9        I have.  Thank you.



10   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms. Hall.



11             We'll now continue with cross-examination by



12        Mr. Lynch, followed by myself.  Mr. Lynch?



13   MR. LYNCH:  No questions, Mr. Morissette.



14   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr. Lynch.



15             Mr. Longobardi, I wanted to go to your



16        balloon pictures.



17   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Okay.



18   THE VICE CHAIR:  Is there anything in particular that



19        you want to point out here for the Council?



20   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  It's obvious that I don't



21        see it from my house unless I'm on the lake, but



22        the people right on East Haddam-Colchester, their



23        statement from Mr. Allen said that they will not



24        see it.  I find that hard to believe.



25             That is -- they're looking out their front
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 1        window.  197 East Haddam-Colchester is absolutely



 2        right across the street from that site.  And I



 3        know there's trees to hide it, but that is a wide



 4        structure.  It's exactly vertical, and there's



 5        going to be racks on the top.



 6             When you're coming down Falls Bashan Road,



 7        you're going to pick that up immediately.  It's



 8        going to be in the center of the road -- looking



 9        right at it.  So, their houses are right on that



10        end.



11             Sure, I'll see it when I drive by it in the



12        morning and at night, but these people are --



13        that's going to affect the value of their homes.



14        It's right outside their house.



15   THE VICE CHAIR:  I take it you're referring to photo



16        number two and three?



17   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.



18   THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Anything else?



19   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No.



20             There was -- there was two photos that, on



21        their LiDAR, it shows that the east side and the



22        south end of the lake are most affected, but they



23        did not take any pictures from that end of the



24        lake, and that was the Laurel Cove photo that I



25        provided from that beach area, Laurel Cove Road.
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 1             Now, it's -- it's a distance away, but



 2        it's -- it will be very visible from that end of



 3        the lake.



 4   THE VICE CHAIR:  And which photo is that?



 5   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Toward the end where it



 6        says, Laurel Cove Road, southwest end of Bashan



 7        Lake.



 8   THE VICE CHAIR:  Gotcha.  Okay.



 9   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  And I believe that's a



10        little more than a mile away.



11   THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.  Okay.  Anything else while



12        we have the opportunity?



13   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  No, I think I've -- I've



14        done enough.



15   THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.



16   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I've done what I could do.



17   THE VICE CHAIR:  Very good.  Well, we appreciate you



18        coming out and testifying this afternoon.



19             So, we'll now continue the cross-examination



20        by Attorney Baldwin.  Attorney Baldwin?



21   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.



22             A couple of questions all regarding the



23        photographs, just for clarification.



24        Mr. Longobardi, do you know what the ground



25        elevation was at the location where the balloon
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 1        was flown?



 2   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Well, based on your plan,



 3        based on being on the property line 25 feet from



 4        the compound, I think that was a little more than



 5        5 feet lower than the tower site.



 6   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  And according to



 7        WeatherUnderground.com, the winds that day were



 8        between seven and eleven miles an hour.



 9             Is that consistent with your recollection?



10   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Well, when we started, it



11        was six.  It was supposed to go to eight.  And



12        yes, it went up to eleven.



13             At about 11:30, the balloon popped as it was



14        moving.



15   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  We know from that experience.  Thank



16        you.



17             Just for some clarification, you referred to



18        the first, second, and third photographs.  They



19        are taken from East Haddam-Colchester Road, and



20        you said compared to photo one, visible.  The next



21        one is from Falls Bashan Road compared to photo



22        three, visible -- I'm sorry, that's the third



23        photograph.



24             And then the second photograph, Falls Bashan



25        Road, number five -- that's a property address, by
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 1        the way.  Number five is the property address on



 2        Bashan Lake Road?



 3   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.



 4   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  And then you said photo



 5        number two, visible.  But these are all photos



 6        where the balloon is shown in and amongst the



 7        trees.  The balloon does not eclipse the top of



 8        the trees from those locations.  Correct?



 9   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.  Well -- correct.



10   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  On several of these



11        photographs there's a green arrow directed toward



12        the balloon.  Some of the photographs, you can see



13        the balloon.  Some of the photographs, the photo



14        was taken from such a distance that it's very hard



15        to see the balloon in the photograph.



16             But just to be clear, the end of that arrow



17        doesn't identify the location of the balloon.



18        It's just a directional arrow toward where the



19        balloon is.  Correct?



20   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.  So, if you go to



21        the photos from Bailey Road as compared to the one



22        photo you guys took from Bailey Road, it is -- it



23        is very visible.  It's a great portion above the



24        trees --



25   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Which --
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 1   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  -- in those two locations.



 2   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Which photo are you referring to?



 3   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I apologize.  I didn't



 4        number them, but I have one here that says 90



 5        Bailey Road, visible.



 6   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Right.  So, again



 7        (unintelligible) --



 8   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  And the one that's -- the



 9        one after this is 20 Bailey Road.  Compare that to



10        the 21 that you had from -- from, I think it was



11        south, the south side of 14.



12   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Well, okay.  Then again, just to be



13        clear, on the one photograph entitled or labeled,



14        90 Bailey Road, visible, the arrow points to the



15        balloon and that's the balloon a certain distance



16        kind of lower left of that arrow?



17   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Correct.  I didn't put the



18        arrow directly on it.



19   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  And then with respect to the



20        20 Bailey Road compared to photo 21, if you look



21        at photo 21, that's not the exact location where



22        photo 21 was taken.  Correct?



23   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  It's to the right of that.



24   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.



25   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Your 21 is to our -- your 21
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 1        is to the right of that near 14.



 2   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.



 3   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Well, you only had -- you



 4        only had one photo from Bailey Road.  That's why I



 5        referenced that.



 6   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Uh-huh.  That's fine.



 7             So, getting back to a point that Mr. Allen



 8        mentioned in response to some of his questions,



 9        several of these photos where the balloon is



10        visible or visible through the trees, those



11        photographs all appear to be consistent with the



12        findings in the Saratoga report.  And I can refer



13        you to photos two and three that we talked about



14        where the balloon is in and amongst the trees.



15             And then I'll jump to the end of the



16        photographic array where you talk about locations



17        at the southeast and southwest portions of the



18        lake where, again, while it's hard to see in the



19        photograph because you're, you know, almost a mile



20        and a half away, that the tower would eclipse the



21        top of the trees a little bit from those



22        locations.



23             And again, that that is consistent with the



24        findings of the Saratoga report if you review



25        their viewshed map.  Correct?
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 1   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I agree with you except for



 2        the ones on East Haddam-Colchester.  I think -- I



 3        think the pictures on East Haddam-Colchester were



 4        taken on an angle that there's no way you could



 5        see from -- your photo two, if you went to the



 6        right side of the road and you did your imagery of



 7        the tower, you would have seen what -- what I'm



 8        showing as a balloon.



 9   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  But again, a balloon in and



10        amongst the trees -- so, visible, visible during



11        the winter months and consistent with Saratoga's



12        photo simulation number one, which was taken right



13        out from in front of the property?



14   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Again, you'll have to agree



15        that a balloon is a little less visible than a



16        tower will be.



17   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Right.  But you did see this photo



18        simulation that was provided that shows a



19        simulated tower from that location right out in



20        front of the property?



21   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  Yes, I did see that.



22   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  Okay.  Mr. Morissette, that's all I



23        have.



24   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.



25             We'll now continue cross-examination by
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 1        Attorney McCann.  Attorney McCann, please?



 2   ATTORNEY McCANN:  I don't have any questions,



 3        Mr. Morissette.  Thank you.



 4   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



 5             Okay.  We are now going to move on to the



 6        appearance by the Town of East Haddam.  Will the



 7        Town of East Haddam present its witness panel for



 8        purposes of taking the oath?  We will have



 9        Attorney Bachman who will administer the oath.



10             Attorney McCann, please begin.



11   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Mr. Morissette, we don't have any



12        witnesses from the Town.



13   THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  We have no witnesses, no



14        exhibits?



15   ATTORNEY McCANN:  Correct.



16   THE VICE CHAIR:  Attorney Bachman, could you help me



17        out here?  So, we don't cross-examine the Town's



18        attorney, I would presume?



19   ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  That's correct, Mr. Morissette.  We



20        wouldn't cross-examine the Town's attorney, but we



21        would ask the other parties if they have any



22        objection to allowing the request for party status



23        and any statements made therein to be submitted



24        into the record as a full exhibit without



25        cross-examination.
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 1             Thank you.



 2   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



 3             Attorney Baldwin, do you have any objection?



 4   ATTORNEY BALDWIN:  We have no objection,



 5        Mr. Morissette.



 6   THE VICE CHAIR:  Thank you.



 7             And Mr. Longobardi, do you have any



 8        objection?



 9   THE WITNESS (Longobardi):  I have no objections.



10   THE VICE CHAIR:  Okay.  Very good.  That concludes our



11        hearing for this afternoon.



12             Therefore, before closing the evidentiary



13        record in this matter, the Connecticut Siting



14        Council announces that briefs and proposed



15        findings of fact may be filed with the Council by



16        any party or intervener no later than June 19,



17        2025.



18             The submissions of briefs or proposed



19        findings of fact are not required by this Council.



20        Rather, we leave it to the choice of the parties



21        and interveners.



22             Anyone who has not become a party or



23        intervener but who desires to make his or her



24        views known to the Council may file written



25        statements to the Council within 30 days of the
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 1        date hereof.



 2             The Council will issue draft findings of



 3        fact, and thereafter parties and interveners may



 4        identify errors or inconsistencies between the



 5        Council's draft findings of fact and the record,



 6        however no new evidence, no new information, and



 7        no arguments and no reply briefs without our



 8        permission will be considered by the Council.



 9             Copies of the transcript of this hearing will



10        be filed at the East Haddam Town Clerk's office.



11             I hereby declare this hearing adjourned and



12        thank you, everyone, for your participation.



13             Good afternoon.



14



15                         (End:  3:15 p.m.)
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 1                            CERTIFICATE



 2



 3             I hereby certify that the foregoing 61 pages



 4        are a complete and accurate computer-aided



 5        transcription of my original verbatim notes taken



 6        of the remote teleconference meeting of The



 7        Connecticut Siting Council continued hearing in



 8        Re:  DOCKET NO. 530, HOMELAND TOWERS, LLC, AND



 9        CELLCO PARTNERSHIP D/B/A VERIZON WIRELESS



10        APPLICATION FOR A CERTIFICATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL



11        COMPATIBILITY AND PUBLIC NEED FOR THE



12        CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, AND OPERATION OF A



13        TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY AND ASSOCIATED



14        EQUIPMENT LOCATED AT 196 EAST HADDAM-COLCHESTER



15        TURNPIKE, EAST HADDAM, CONNECTICUT, which was held



16        before JOHN MORISSETTE, THE VICE CHAIR, on May 20,



17        2025.



18



19



20                       _________________________________

                         Robert G. Dixon, CVR-M 857

21                       Notary Public

                         My Commission Expires:  6/30/2025
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